



## DISCOURSE IN DANGER: ATTACKS ON FREE EXPRESSION IN PUTIN'S RUSSIA

January 25, 2016

© PEN American Center 2016. All rights reserved.

PEN American Center is the largest branch of PEN International, the world's leading literary and human rights organization. PEN works in more than 100 countries to protect free expression and to defend writers and journalists who are imprisoned, threatened, persecuted, or attacked in the course of their profession. PEN America's 4,300 members stand together with more than 20,000 PEN writers worldwide in international literary fellowship to carry on the achievements of such past members as James Baldwin, Robert Frost, Allen Ginsberg, Langston Hughes, Arthur Miller, Eugene O'Neill, Susan Sontag, and John Steinbeck. For more information, please visit www.pen.org.

Cover photography by Sergey Norin



# **CONTENTS**

Introduction 4	
Overview and Methodology 5	
Legal Framework 6	
Regulating the Information Space: Roskomnadzor 9	
Shaping Children's Minds 16	
Closing Intellectual and Cultural Spaces 19	
Reining In Civil Society 22	
Conclusion: Navigating the Closing Space 24	
Acknowledgments 26	
Appendix 1: PEN American Center Letter to the Russian Embassy in Washington, D.C. 27	
Appendix 2: Response from Russian Embassy to PEN Request for Comment	28
Endnotes 32	

### INTRODUCTION

Freedom of expression has been one of the worst casualties of Russian President Vladimir Putin's 15-year assault on democratic institutions and values. When Putin first came to power in 2000, he began systematically to dismantle, weaken, or fundamentally undermine democratic institutions, beginning with the press.1 Despite this frontal attack on the media, some independent voices in traditional media remained strong and the rise in internet access and social media allowed independent online resources to flourish, including internet news sites, blogs, and social media sites. The global "war on terrorism" gave new energy and justification for limits on speech and the government used the opportunity to pass a vague and overbroad anti-extremism law in 2002, targeting speech, publications, groups, and ideas deemed "extremist," a broadly defined notion interpreted subjectively by officials.2 Numerous other laws banning or restricting particular types of content, including information accessible to children, LGBT-related information, and expression that offends religious feelings, followed in subsequent years.

Putin, a career KGB officer, joined the administration of Boris Yeltsin, Russia's first president after the collapse of the Soviet Union, in 1996 and became acting president when Yeltsin resigned in 1999. He was first elected president in 2000, and after completing two four-year terms (the maximum a president may serve consecutively), served as prime minister for four years under Dmitry Medvedev. In 2011 the presidential term was changed to six years and Putin won a third term in March 2012 in an election criticized for irregularities and that sparked large protests.3 Since Putin's return to the presidency, the government has successfully pushed for legislative changes to establish stronger state control over all kinds of civic expression and introduced disproportionately harsh sanctions for violating such restrictions. A government-engineered turn toward conservative social values and a surge of nationalism fueled by the conflict in Ukraine have contributed to an increasingly intrusive and restrictive approach to controlling public opinion. Putin has seized upon information as a key weapon in his fight to promote Russia's resurgence in the world, and he has deployed it both by restricting information and expression that could challenge what one commentator calls "Putin's ultra-conservative agenda of patriotism, Orthodoxy, and authoritarianism,"4 as well as Putin has seized upon information as a key weapon in his fight to promote Russia's resurgence in the world.

by proactively populating the space for expression with content that promotes the Kremlin's worldview.

Although the press has not given in without a struggle and some key independent outlets, reporters, and editors continue to speak and publish, state television and a limited selection of other "loyal" outlets dominate today's Russian media landscape. With the mainstream press increasingly toeing the Kremlin line, government restrictions have expanded to encroach upon other cultural spaces and modes of expression, including social activism, literature, art, and theater. Government tactics have included banning or blocking sources of independent information, ideas, and debate, such as news sites Lenta.ru and Grani.ru, ensuring Kremlin-compliant leadership at the major social network Vkontakte, waging a propaganda war to promote its version of events regarding Ukraine, empowering the Russian Orthodox Church to impose "Russian values" on theater and art, as well as tarnishing independent civic groups as "foreign agents" and imposing near-complete restrictions on LGBT activism or public expressions or discussions of homosexuality.

The result of this campaign to control and confine the contours of free expression and to populate it with "approved" ideas has been to limit thought and discourse, induce self-censorship, close avenues of public engagement, raise the risks of dissent, and attempt to subordinate universal norms such as the right to freedom of expression under newly constructed and state-imposed "Russian values" that emphasize a strong state, conservative moral values, and traditional relationships over universal, individual rights.



The Kremlin, Moscow

# OVERVIEW AND METHODOLOGY

This report begins with a brief overview of relevant Russian laws and international human rights treaties. It then examines the worsening climate for free expression in several key areas, including censorship of online speech, restrictions on information available to children, growing pressure on cultural institutions, and the crackdown on non-governmental organizations.

The report is based on a review of news and analytical reports on freedom of expression in Russia as well as phone, Skype, and e-mail interviews with human rights experts, writers, journalists, and publishers working in Russia.

### LEGAL FRAMEWORK

The right to freedom of expression, which includes freedom of speech, the right to seek and impart information, the right to free assembly, and press freedom, is protected by the Russian Constitution as well as international human rights treaties to which Russia is a party.

#### **Constitution of the Russian Federation**

The right to freedom of expression is enshrined in Article 29 of the Russian Constitution, adopted in 1993,<sup>5</sup> which states "everyone shall be guaranteed the freedom of ideas and speech," and "everyone shall have the right to freely look for, receive, transmit, produce and distribute information by any legal way...the freedom of mass communication shall be guaranteed. Censorship shall be banned." The Constitution provides for limitations to fundamental freedoms to the "extent to which it is necessary for the protection of the fundamental principles of the constitutional system, morality, health, the rights and lawful interests of other people, for ensuring defense of the country and security of the State."

# International Legal Provisions on Freedom of Expression and Access to Information

Russia is a signatory to numerous international treaties that protect the right to freedom of expression, as well as the freedoms of thought, conscience, assembly, and association. Freedom of expression is protected by Article 19 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and Article 10 of the European Convention of Human Rights (ECHR), to both of which the Russian Federation is a state party. Art. 10 states:

Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers. This Article shall not prevent States from requiring the licensing of broadcasting, television or cinema enterprises.<sup>8</sup>

Several petitioners have brought cases to the European

Court of Human Rights to challenge Russian laws impacting freedom of expression that involve political speech. While often successful there, the damages and decisions generally have not been implemented. In late 2015, Russia passed a law that will allow the government to disregard rulings from the European Court of Human Rights if they conflict with their Constitution.<sup>9</sup>

Article 19 of the ICCPR states:

Everyone shall have the right to freedom of expression; this right shall include freedom to seek, receive and impart information and ideas of all kinds, regardless of frontiers, either orally, in writing or in print, in the form of art, or through any other media of his choice.<sup>10</sup>

The United Nations Human Rights Committee, the body that provides authoritative interpretations of the ICCPR's provisions, has defined freedom of the press broadly, recognizing that journalism may be engaged in not only by professional full-time reporters, but also "bloggers and others who engage in forms of self-publication in print, on the internet or elsewhere."

Article 19 of the ICCPR explicitly protects the right of access to information as a component of freedom of expression.<sup>12</sup> The Human Rights Committee has stated that the right of access to information "includes the expression and receipt of communications of every form of idea and opinion capable of transmission to others," subject to certain limitations described below.<sup>13</sup> The U.N. General Assembly declared freedom of information to be a fundamental human right during its first session in 1946.<sup>14</sup>

# Permissible Limitations on Freedom of Expression Under International Law

Under international law, the right to freedom of expression may be restricted in certain specific circumstances. <sup>15</sup> Both the ECHR and the ICCPR allow restrictions for the protection of national security, public order, or public health or morals. <sup>16</sup> Any limitation imposed must satisfy

# Amendments to anti-extremism laws have imposed further limitations on expression. In 2013 the executive branch submitted amendments, approved by the Duma, to criminalize public advocacy of separatism.

particular conditions, as the Human Rights Committee has explained:

It is for the State party to demonstrate the legal basis for any restrictions imposed on freedom of expression . . . When a State party invokes a legitimate ground for restriction of freedom of expression, it must demonstrate in specific and individualized fashion the precise nature of the threat, and the necessity and proportionality of the specific action taken, in particular by establishing a direct and immediate connection between the expression and the threat."<sup>17</sup>

#### Russian Laws Restricting Free Expression

While freedom of expression was tightly controlled in the Soviet Union, limits were lifted in the early post-Soviet period and free expression, debate, and public conversation greatly expanded. However, since Putin first came to power in 2000, he has led the government in re-building a formidable legal architecture to limit speech and expression. Several of the key laws that restrict or ban expression are summarized in this section.

#### **Anti-Extremism Laws**

Russia has passed a series of laws and amendments collectively known as anti-extremism legislation. A core provision, Article 282 of Russia's Criminal Code, imposes criminal penalties for actions aimed to "incitement to hatred or hostility" and "humiliation of human dignity" of a person or a group of people, on the basis of gender, race, nationality, language, origin, attitude towards religion, or affiliation to any social group. The penalties apply to acts committed publicly or through media and telecommunication networks, including the internet.<sup>19</sup>

Other provisions of anti-extremism legislation prohibit media outlets from reporting on attacks by groups banned or designated as terrorist by the government without also including comments from Russian security services in the same text. The security forces often decline to comment or do so only after long delays,

impeding media coverage of such attacks.<sup>20</sup> The law also forbids reporters from quoting terrorists directly or naming media outlets that are sponsored or controlled by terrorist groups.<sup>21</sup>

Amendments to anti-extremism laws have imposed further limitations on expression. In 2013 the executive branch submitted amendments, approved by the Duma, to criminalize public advocacy of separatism.<sup>22</sup> While a law aimed at curtailing violent extremism may have a legitimate place in a democratic society, it must not infringe upon protected expression. In Russia, authorities appear to use the laws to limit information and debate on matters of legitimate public interest, as will be documented below.

## Law on Protection of Children from Harmful Information

One of the broadest laws restricting expression is the 2010 Law on Protection of Children from Information Harmful to Their Health and Development and its subsequent amendments,<sup>23</sup> which some activists refer to wryly as the "law on protection of children from information."<sup>24</sup>

The law applies to any "information that might cause fear, anger, or panic; justify violence and unlawful behavior; or cause a desire to use drugs, alcohol, or otherwise harm one's health."25 It mandates the establishment of unified standards for all mass media products including books, magazines, computer programs, databases, and other audio and visual materials intended for children and requires such materials to be reviewed by a panel comprised of experts in child psychology, physiology, psychiatry, and education, who are appointed by federal executive or regional officials.<sup>26</sup> The law requires media products to specify the age of their intended audience through an age rating system that divides information content available to minors into age categories of: under 6 years, 6-12, 12-16, and 16 and older<sup>27</sup> and provides content restrictions and guidelines for each age group.<sup>28</sup> All information products must declare the age of the intended audience and the law specifies that for printed or visual materials the age designation must be printed

# The United Nations Human Rights Committee has said that the gay propaganda law disproportionately restricts the right to freedom of expression of LGBT people and has called on Russia to repeal it.

in type large enough to cover at least 5% of the size of the surface of the package or item for sale.<sup>29</sup>

The law also prohibits the broadcast of television and radio programs containing information harmful to minors between 7 a.m. and 9 p.m.,<sup>30</sup> requires content blocking in places where children could access the internet,<sup>31</sup> and requires any printed materials containing information deemed harmful to children to be sold in packaging that prevents children from previewing the contents.<sup>32</sup> Violations of the law are punished by fines and other sanctions, including possible removal from sale of the media products found to be not in compliance.<sup>33</sup>

Amendments to the law have created additional restrictions and penalties, and have included provisions restricting information about LGBT families and relationships. In June 2013 President Putin signed Federal Law No. 135-FZ banning the "promotion of nontraditional sexual relations to minors," often referred to as the "gay propaganda law." The law ostensibly aims to protect children from "information promoting the denial of traditional family values," and passed unanimously save a single abstention in the Duma.34 The gay propaganda law imposes fines for violations, starting at 4,000-5,000 rubles for individuals (approximately \$61-76 USD) and increasing to 800,000-1 million (approximately \$12,237-\$15,300 USD) for legal entities such as organizations and businesses. The fines rise significantly if the offender uses mass media or the internet for "propaganda:" 40,000-50,000 rubles for individuals (approximately \$611-764 USD) up to 1 million (approximately \$15,300 USD) or up to 90 days' suspension of activities for legal entities.35

The United Nations Human Rights Committee has said that the gay propaganda law disproportionately restricts the right to freedom of expression of LGBT people and has called on Russia to repeal it, as well as to "Guarantee the exercise in practice of the rights to freedom of expression and assembly of LGBT individuals and their supporters."<sup>36</sup>

In addition, a new draft law introduced in October 2015 would impose fines of 4,000-5,000 rubles (approximately \$61-76 USD) for public expression of

"non-traditional sexual relations." If the public display occurs on the grounds of an educational, youth, or cultural institution, the offender could be subject to up to 15 days of administrative arrest. The bill and the explanatory note accompanying it underscore the government's campaign to restrict the rights of LGBT people and suppress all forms of LGBT-related expression. The bill's authors argue that homosexuality is "socially infectious," especially for young people, and have publicly accused LGBT people of supporting pedophilia. The debate surrounding this proposed law has fueled dangerous manifestations of anti-LGBT sentiment. 18

#### Insult to Religious Believers

Laws on incitement to hatred and laws on insulting the feelings of religious believers also impose criminal penalties for the expression of particular ideas. In cases brought under these laws, government-appointed experts have the authority to find that speech or expression meets the definitions provided for in the law.<sup>39</sup>

Article 148 of the Criminal Code criminalizes insulting religious feeling of believers, as broadly defined. The prohibitions encompass "public actions which express obvious disrespect for society and are committed to insult the religious feelings of believers," and the law imposes penalties that include fines of up to 300,000 rubles or two years' salary or other income for a period of up to two years, up to 240 hours of compulsory labor, or community service or imprisonment for up to one year. Public acts deemed to insult the feelings of religious believers carried out in places of worship carry stiffer penalties. Members of Pussy Riot, the punk performance group, were convicted under this provision.

#### Laws Targeting Civil Society

In recent years, the Russian government has also adopted several laws, including the so-called "Foreign Agents Law" and "Undesirables Law," the impact of which has been to drastically curtail the operations of non-governmental organizations. These laws are discussed in detail below.

# REGULATING THE INFORMATION SPACE: ROSKOMNADZOR

One of the government's key tools for controlling information is the Federal Service for Supervision of Communications, Information Technology, and Mass Media (Roskomnadzor). Roskomnadzor is the federal executive authority of the Russian Federation responsible for the control and supervision of mass media including electronic mass media, mass communications, information technology, and telecommunications. It also supervises statutory compliance over personal data use and manages radio frequency services.41 Only established as a separate agency in 2008, Roskomnadzor has taken on an increasingly powerful and important role in the Russian media landscape, with enormous implications for freedom of expression.<sup>42</sup> Roskomnadzor effectively exercises control over public media and discussion and has the power to restrict the activity or content conveyed over any form of media, including websites, social media, and print publications including books.<sup>43</sup> With the passage of other laws restricting freedom of expression and in particular specific content, such as the Law on Protection of Children from Harmful Information, Roskomnadzor's role has continued to expand.

Generally, Roskomnadzor's oversight is supposed to be guided by the Law on Mass Media, the Law on Information, Information Technology, and Information Protection (Law on Information), and the anti-extremism laws. The agency is empowered to issue warnings to media platforms it deems to be in violation of these laws; three warnings can result in forcible closure of the outlet. Soon after its establishment, Roskomnadzor began to issue warnings to websites and broadcasters concerning specific politically or socially sensitive content. The agency began to attract increased domestic and international attention when it informed media outlets that they were not only responsible for their own content but also for the content posted by commenters in their online forums.<sup>44</sup>

#### **Selective Enforcement**

Roskomnadzor has the power to impose crippling fines or remove from publication works deemed inconsistent with Russian law. Since Roskomnadzor does not have the resources to read and analyze every publication within the scope of the law, enforcement is necessarily selective and open to political influence. The result is an arbitrary and unpredictable approach that leaves content producers guessing what may get them fined or jailed. In practice, Roskomnadzor has broad latitude to take action against media, including social media, for purely political reasons.<sup>45</sup> The selectivity and, at times, arbitrariness of Roskomnadzor's enforcement protocols create significant uncertainty for writers, publishers, broadcasters, websites and other media producers, often resulting in self-censorship as a way to avoid uncertain rules and arbitrary enforcement. In the words of one writer, "in the absence of hard guidelines (which is the way the Putin government generally likes it, the better to keep the citizenry on its toes), people are left to explore the boundaries of their own bravery."46

In practice, Roskomnadzor has become a convenient and powerful tool for the Kremlin to temporarily or permanently disable content across a range of platforms, from social media to traditional publishing. As Maria Stepanova, editor of independent cultural website Colta.ru put it, Roskomnadzor has reawakened people's "internal editors—the voice in your head that consciously or unconsciously makes you question what you are writing or publishing. Does this cross the line? Will this get me in trouble?"<sup>47</sup>

Indeed, many acknowledge that Roskomnadzor is used specifically as a selective enforcement tool by the Russian government. Nabi Abdullaev, former editor of the *Moscow Times*, the leading English language newspaper, said "Roskomnadzor is a very technical agency that only implements concrete political orders or wishes of the Russian leadership. I would say they don't have a political will of their own."48 According to Stepanova, the controlling, paternalistic limitations imposed by Roskomnadzor on public discourse have diminished the sense of citizenship in Russia. But, she warns, "don't personalize Roskomnadzor. It is the whole system that is paternalistic and reduces citizens to children who cannot be trusted to think for themselves. It has demolished the idea of expertise, the idea of journalism as a profession, and the idea of education."49

#### **Online Media**

Roskomnadzor's jurisdiction extends to all online content, including online news sites, social media, and other websites.<sup>50</sup> When Roskomnadzor receives a court order or a request from a prosecutor with respect to purportedly unlawful online content, they notify the internet service provider (ISP) that hosts the website or online platform. The ISP in turn must notify the website's owners of the problem within three days. If they fail to remove it within three days, or if the site or platform has received more than three warnings, the agency blocks access to the content by entering the pages or site in an official register of banned sites that network operators must block.<sup>51</sup> Owners of a domain name, site, or IP address can remove the banned information and petition Roskomnadzor to unblock the site.<sup>52</sup> Roskomnadzor's actions and the lack of clarity surrounding the laws affecting online speech have resulted in a broad chilling effect. One study found that "due to the ambiguities of the legislation governing censorship, ISPs responsible for complying with blocking orders 'carry out the widest blocking possible', including sites against which the authorities have no complaints."53

Previously hailed as the last bastion of free expression in Russia, the internet has been a key target of the Kremlin's efforts to control the information space. Tanya Lokshina of Human Rights Watch has described the internet in Russia as "the cyber inheritor of the kitchen, which was the only (relatively) safe place for debate in the Soviet era," since household kitchens were viewed as the ultimate private spaces where people gathered for discussions only with family and trusted intimates. Lokshina has documented a series of government measures to restrict online speech. Freedom House has ranked the internet in Russia as "not free," citing problems such as obstacles to access, limitations on content, and violations of users' rights. 55

Online space is a vital outlet for citizen expression and is also an essential outlet for the dissemination of journalism and uncensored information by a wide range of independent media and outlets, civil society groups, and professional associations. Given the resources that the state invests in disrupting independent news distribution, disseminating its own official version of news, and engaging in organized "trolling" both to spread misinformation and to challenge viewpoints it dislikes, the constraints on unfettered expression online compound the problem of a warped and state-dominated information arena.<sup>56</sup>

#### **Government-Approved News**

The government's engineering of the information space has not been limited to emptying it of a pluralism of views and independent ideas, but also filling it with an onslaught of Kremlin-approved distortion, propaganda, and misinformation about the conflict in Ukraine as well as the work of human rights groups and other civil society organizations.<sup>57</sup> Their objectives appear to be both to

spread their version of the truth, and also to undermine and destabilize the very notion of objective information.<sup>58</sup> As Nabi Abdullaev described:

This void of expression of independent, often professional, value-based and public needs-based public interests is replaced by propaganda of all kinds, mainly by commentaries of state-sponsored actors—both media and individuals—who create a kind of a virtual media reality that is being fed to general Russians. In this reality, Russia is battling off the encroaching West (mainly, Americans) nearly everywhere, including Syria, Donbass, and in Russian courts that slap "foreign agent" stigma on rights and charity organizations. And it works pretty well, given the total approach and the relative high quality of the drama management by the Russian television.<sup>59</sup>

Perhaps the example that has garnered the most attention internationally is the Kremlin-funded television station Russia Today, recently re-branded as the more generic RT. According to some analyses, RT pretends to offer real news, and on some topics does, while in other cases presenting a government-sanctioned version of news and engaging in dubious reporting on a variety of topics.60 RT's messaging is thus more complex, and arguably more powerful, than simple heavy-handed propaganda.61 President Putin has made clear that RT was created to "try to break the Anglo-Saxon monopoly on the global information streams."62 In a 2013 foreign policy concept note issued by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the government made its aims even clearer, stating "Russia will seek to ensure its objective perception in the world, develop its own effective means of information influence on public opinion abroad... and take necessary measures to counteract information threats to its sovereignty and security."63

Russia's takeover of independent television is especially significant because of television's influence and reach in the country. An estimated 98% of households in Russia have access to television as compared with 66% that have internet access.<sup>64</sup> Studies indicate that Russians also consider information received from television more seriously than information received from the internet. A nationwide survey by the Levada Center, an independent analytical center, in October 2015 showed that 59% of respondents trust information they receive from television completely or to a significant decree, as compared to 37% who trust information they find on the internet. Trust in television has risen over the last three years from only 47% in 2012, a period when the government has intensified its control over information and efforts to restrict free expression.<sup>65</sup>

#### **Anti-Extremism Laws**

The anti-extremism laws, the broad and poorly-defined

# Previously bailed as the last bastion of free expression in Russia, the internet bas been a key target of the Kremlin's efforts to control the information space.

provisions of which impose criminal penalties for "incitement to hatred or hostility, and humiliation of human dignity" of a person or a group of people, based on gender, race, nationality, language, origin, attitude towards religion or affiliation to any social group, has provided ample means for the government's efforts to regulate and restrict expression. Courts have interpreted the meaning of "social group" very broadly, in at least one case holding that it includes all Russian people.66 Konstantin Golava, an LGBT activist from Togliatti, was accused of inciting ethnic hatred for materials he posted on his social media page advocating for a civilian alternative to military service. Russia's Investigative Service alleged that Golava's posts were humiliating to members of the social group "Russian citizens." Golava eventually sought political asylum in Sweden fearing persecution for his advocacy in Russia.68

In September 2015 Dmitry Semenov, an activist with the independent political party Parnas, was convicted of calling for extremism and fined 150,000 rubles (approximately \$2,167 USD) after he reposted a caricature of Prime Minister Dmitry Medvedev on his social media page. Semenov, who was granted amnesty as part of an amnesty program to commemorate the 70th anniversary of World War II, under which people convicted of minor offenses were allowed early release, had planned to appeal his conviction. In May 2015, Viktor Shenderovich, a well-known essayist, journalist, and humorist, reported that authorities had launched an investigation against him for suspected extremism after he published an essay on the assassination of opposition leader Boris Nemtsov in March 2015.

#### Flashpoint Ukraine

The conflict in Ukraine precipitated a rash of politically motivated censorship and propaganda unprecedented in recent Russian history. Although the decline of independent media in Russia has occurred gradually as the authorities have toughened restrictions and taken steps to close independent outlets, the conflict in Ukraine accelerated the clampdown. The conflict, which began with mass protests in the capital, Kyiv, in late 2013 and erupted into armed conflict in early 2014 in the eastern part of the country (closer to Russia) gave fresh impetus

to the drive to silence independent voices and replace them with a dominant state narrative. Stepanova noted that the conflict set off:

A year and a half of pure hell. The government reloaded the propaganda machine and you could hear it everywhere: at the doctor's office, on the tram, in the shops. They were using all their force and in a way it worked—the level of hysteria was extraordinary, and not only among the people accepting state TV as the gospel truth. The effect of such propaganda goes person to person, hand to hand. The level of mutual hate was astonishing. I've never felt anything like that.<sup>72</sup>

Just six months after amending the anti-extremism laws to criminalize public calls to separatism in 2013, the government toughened criminal penalties for violations, especially for online speech.<sup>73</sup> In February 2014, a law came into effect allowing prosecutors to order internet sites, including blogs and social media pages, to be blocked without a court order.<sup>74</sup>

In February 2015 Roskomnadzor announced new recommendations for Russian mass media on how to write about Ukrainian nationalist organizations, such as Right Sector or the Ukrainian National Assembly. The recommendations stated that media should not describe them in a "neutral" manner and must refer to any organization included in the government's list of banned organizations with a qualifier such as "radical," "extremist" or "nationalist." In addition, any mention of such groups must note explicitly that their activity is banned on Russian territory. Roskomnadzor further noted that failure to comply with these "recommendations" could result in a warning. Although Roskomnadzor modified their announcement a day later, removing the recommendation to use qualifiers when describing nationalist organizations, the message conveyed to the media was clear: Watch your words.75

The conflict and accompanying clampdown on expression led to a spate of closures of independent online news outlets, blocking of specific online content concerning Ukraine, and banning of individual sites and social media pages.<sup>76</sup>

In March 2014, just days after Russian troops occupied Crimea, Roskomnadzor announced that it would enforce an order from the Prosecutor General to block access to three major independent news sites, EJ.ru, Grani.ru, and Lenta.ru, as well as the blog of opposition figure Alexei Navalny.77 The experience of Lenta.ru, long a leading independent news source in Russia, is particularly telling. Two days before the ban was announced, Galina Timchenko, Lenta.ru's editor since its founding in 1999, was fired over the site's coverage of events in Ukraine. Before Timchenko was ousted, the site was not only one of Russia's leading independent news sources but also one of its most profitable and popular.<sup>78</sup> Roskomnadzor issued the site a warning for publishing material of "an extremist nature" after it ran an interview with a member of Right Sector, a far right Ukrainian group.<sup>79</sup> Lenta.ru's owner then replaced Timchenko with Alexei Goreslavsky, who had run Vzglyad.ru, a business news site considered firmly pro-Kremlin. In an open letter posted on Lenta. ru after Timchenko's firing, 69 editors and writers for Lenta.ru protested the developments:

The firing of the independent editor-in-chief, and the appointment of someone who can be controlled by the outside, including directly from offices in the Kremlin, this is a violation of the laws of journalism, of not allowing censorship... Over the past few years, the space of free media in Russia has shrunk dramatically. Some outlets are directly controlled by the Kremlin, others through gate keepers, others through editors who are scared to lose their work. Certain media outlets either have already closed, or will close soon... We certainly expected they would come for us as well.<sup>80</sup>

Banned sites often experience an uptick in visits in the days and weeks immediately following the ban.81 However, as time goes on, visits drop off. Accessing the sites in Russia requires the use of proxy servers and anonymizers, which impose barriers, and are unwieldy to use on mobile phones (increasingly the preferred devices used by Russians to access the internet).82 In the case of Lenta.ru, many journalists who left along with Timchenko followed her to Latvia where she launched Meduza, a site that publishes some original content but functions mainly as a content aggregator, reposting from other sources.83 Meduza, with its Russian readership of just 2.7% of the population, as compared to Lenta's of 12.9%, represents an important symbol of defiance against Russia's tactics, but cannot begin to fill the gap in independent news coverage left by Lenta's demise.84

Former *Moscow Times* editor Abdullaev underscores that even though numerous smaller blogs and social media pages that post information are able to operate without

significant interference, the government nonetheless maintains a near-monopoly on news:

The actual news—important information to be exchanged—is not generally produced by bloggers. It is produced by the professional editorial teams. If these teams are disbanded or oppressed to the extent they stop doing meaningful, relevant journalistic work, the online space will not generate them in their stead. The most popular Russian journalist-blogger Oleg Kashin does not write news, he comments on and circulates news written by editorial teams. The team running the very popular website of Ekho Moskvy radio does not have its own integrated capacity to generate news content, they re-post content created by others. Even Meduza, often seen as a success story of preserving a free media outlet by moving the newsroom abroad, has very little of its own reporting and mainly recycles someone's else content.85

The conflict in Ukraine has also resulted in the targeting of many social media groups and users. In March 2014, at the request of the Prosecutor General's office, Roskomnadzor blocked 13 Ukraine-affiliated groups in *Vkontakte*, a major social media network in Russia. In addition, Roskomnadzor pressured *Vkontakte*'s administrators to ban the personal profiles of pro-Ukrainian nationalists. Some of the banned communities had large numbers of followers: "The Ukrainian Revolution" community listed approximately about 500,000 followers, "The Revolution Euromaidan" community had around 390,000 followers, and "Right Sector," a far right Ukrainian nationalist group had approximately 350,000 followers.<sup>86</sup>

In a press release, Roskomnadzor justified the ban alleging "these communities propagandized the ideology of Ukrainian nationalist groups, directly called for terrorist actions and participation in unsanctioned mass meetings." In the same statement, Roskomnadzor warned that "spreading information with extremist content using any internet-based platform to organize that illegal action, is forbidden."<sup>87</sup>

In February 2015 a court in Tatarstan, a region in central Russia, sentenced activist Rafis Kashapov to two years in prison for speech threatening to Russia's territorial integrity and for incitement to hatred for publishing an online article opposing Russia's occupation of Crimea. A court in Siberia handed down a one-year prison term to Oleg Novozhenin for "propaganda of extremism on social media networks" for posting audio and video materials of right wing Ukrainian groups. Novozhenin's sentence may represent an even harsher approach by the government, as previous sentences for those convicted of promoting extremism online have consisted of fines or suspended terms. 89



*Izvestia* newspaper building

#### **Publishing**

Although much has been written about Russian repression of internet freedom, less attention has been paid to traditional publishing, a realm that has also felt the weight of government restriction and a climate of caution for authors, publishers, and even bookstores. Roskomnadzor's oversight extends to the publication of new works as well as translations. The government's campaign to establish and promote "Russian" values while attempting to expunge or push into the shadows experiences or ideas that do not conform to official orthodoxy, 90 relies

on books in ways that both elevate and debase them. By limiting certain kinds of content, for example positive descriptions of homosexuality, or candid accounts of suicide or drug use or by allowing only selective interpretations of history, the government uses books and other publications as a means to transmit and reinforce its own preferred ideals and historical narratives. The government requires that publications containing profanity or any writing aimed at adults (rather than children) be marked with warnings and sold in protective wrapping, as if the contents were pornographic or dangerous and

as if books pose a danger to a public unable to handle them or think independently.

Publisher Ilya Danishevsky, the editor-in-chief of the Time imprint at AST publishing house, calls this a "system of silence and reconstruction of taboos" that goes deeper than mere external restrictions.

In Russia "healthy," "normal" people don't speak about same sex relationships or domestic violence, don't criticize the religious authorities, or discuss the problem of suicide and reasons for it, etc. At a minimum, these topics are all presented as of little importance or interest. For Russia, creating its own unique path and own unique value system higher than any other, it is better to independently uproot itself from the system [of universal values].<sup>91</sup>

According to Danishevsky, restrictive laws have led to self-censorship on the part of editors, as well as bloggers, and others. The nebulous rules and their arbitrary enforcement force people to make imprecise calculations about whether they can allow themselves the risk of publishing possibly controversial writings. And "these self-imposed limits sooner or later will rob the reader of various works and, even worse, rob the author from creating them."92 But Danishevsky's central critique of the propaganda law and other laws that restrict content is that they rest on the false notion that certain behaviors, values, or ideas that the government seeks to restrict are germinated and fueled by writing: "Homosexuality, violence, swearing, and pornography [all restricted by law] did not become reality from books, it is exactly the other way around."93

There are numerous laws that Roskomnadzor can use to harass publishers; these strictures are marked by vagueness and selective enforcement. Panishevsky says "it's worth mentioning that the caricature of enforcement of these laws is due to the flexibility of their formulations." He recounted that concerns were raised with respect to the laws protecting the feelings of religious believers (see more below) when he decided to publish the Russian translation of Clive Barker's book *The Scarlet Gospels* and began discussing it with booksellers.

Any moves in this direction, any hint or allusion, immediately raises concerns and feelings of discomfort; the law is constructed such that there is no clear understanding what religious feelings are (and therefore what insulting them entails), what is its core and where are its limits; there is only a kind of "aura of question" that arises, probably similar to that raised by the taboo themes of sexuality before the sexual revolution. 95

The stakes of running into trouble with the agency

are high. <sup>96</sup> If Roskomnadzor determines that a book is in violation of a law, the writer, publisher, editors, distributors, and bookstores all potentially face criminal charges. <sup>97</sup> Danishevsky says that publishers must be willing to operate on the principle "do what is right and what will be will be," and any preliminary or pre-publication efforts to avoid problems "should be associated exclusively with opposing various forms of the system of self-censorship."<sup>98</sup>

In another example, highlighting the unpredictability of Roskomnadzor, in early 2015 award-winning Novaya Gazeta journalist and prominent LGBT-activist Elena Kostyuchenko released a compilation of articles and essays, We Have to Live Here (Нам Здесь Жить).99 The book includes a forward by Nadezhda Tolokonnikova, a member of the punk performance group Pussy Riot who was convicted for "hooliganism motivated by religious hatred" in 2012 for an unsanctioned performance in a Moscow cathedral. 100 However, while Tolokonnikova's piece escaped the censors, Kostyuchenko was forced by Roskomnadzor to omit an article she had written about the Pussy Riot case from her book. She left blank pages in its place to underscore the censorship. Novaya Gazeta's article about the book notes, "As with other heroes of our time, censorship has left its mark on the pages of We Have to Live Here."101

#### Re-Defining History: Flags of the World

Since Roskomnadzor does not have the capacity for complete control over publishing, broadcasting, or online speech, it relies in part on citizen complaints. This system has resulted in numerous cases of action against books or other media for their failure to conform to officially promoted viewpoints based on complaints from individuals or citizen action groups, creating an interesting parallel to the Soviet practice of denouncing one's neighbors and colleagues. <sup>102</sup> Danishevsky says

In a country that has unofficially banned any criticism of the authorities, in a country where the sole true beliefs are actively implanted through television, where pluralism is semi-prohibited, the desire to complain is in excess. And so if we speak about the fact that a huge part of the population agrees with the "party line," any differing opinions (including innovations) experience "economic censorship" since the market is confined to conservative, long since regulated positions, and acts according to pre-programmed patterns (as does the consumer).<sup>103</sup>

Russia's laws restricting expression have not only imposed stark limits on a fundamental human right, but also served to promote particular viewpoints. The scandal that erupted over the children's book *Flags of the World* (Флаги

# "We are all carriers of a Soviet mentality, which means we are infected with the virus of internal censorship."

Мира), a Russian translation of a French book by Sylvie Bednar, exemplifies how the current climate of repression can tend toward hysteria triggered by something as innocent as a children's book. *Flags of the World* contains images of the flags of every country in the world with an explanation of the colors, symbols and shapes used in the flag. KompasGid, an imprint of Eksmo, one of Russia's largest publishing houses, released the book in May 2013. It enjoyed strong sales and was identified as a potential "hit" by several major bookstores, which displayed it prominently. <sup>104</sup> The entry for Lithuania explained that the color red on the Lithuanian flag represented blood shed by Lithuanians in their battles against German and Russian conquerors. <sup>105</sup>

In June, Alexander Khinshtein, a Duma deputy from the United Russia party, the pro-Putin ruling party, saw the book in the bookstore "Moscow" and took umbrage at the entry on Lithuania. He tweeted that the book was "Russophobic" and promised to submit a complaint to the prosecutor.<sup>106</sup> He explained to an interviewer, "Since it happened so long ago, why do we need this topic? I am against the fact that a children's book, a book published under age category '0+' [intended for children of any age] writes things offensive to my country and my people."107 Khinshtein made good on his promise to alert the authorities and submitted a complaint to the prosecutor's office requesting that the book be investigated for "historical inaccuracies."108 The chilling effect of Khinshtein's tweet and complaint was immediate and unmistakable. The very next day the bookstore returned all unsold copies to the publisher and within a week approximately 60% of all unsold copies were returned by numerous stores and distributors.109

Vitalii Zyusko, editor-in-chief of KompasGid, highlighted the climate of fear evident in the brouhaha over Flags of the World and the role the legal restrictions play in intimidating publishers and booksellers. In another setting, the conversation over Flags of the World could have led to robust public debate over matters of public significance—Russia's historical role in the Baltics, perhaps the meaning of Russophobia—and booksellers could have leveraged the debate to spark sales. Instead of making money off this book—a deputy said something about it and the book is being discussed—the stores are refusing to sell it. After all, no one banned anything, but everyone has already banned everything internally themselves and incidentally we are accused of Russophobia. Although naturally any laws related to the printed word exacerbate internal censorship. We are all carriers of a Soviet mentality, which means we are infected with the virus of internal censorship—we decide for ourselves in advance what is bad, what is good, what we will get locked up for, what we won't. It seems to me that the professional community has gotten stuck even deeper in the swamp of internal censorship... Everyone [is] concerned with the question of how to work so that we don't cause any inspections, any problems, simply so we aren't fined or put in prison.<sup>110</sup>

# Official History, Self-Censorship and Arbitrary Laws: The Case of *Maus*

In their patriotic zeal, Russian authorities have implemented the laws on expression in ways that privilege an official version of history and Russian identity while exhibiting sometimes extreme and even nonsensical intolerance toward anything that challenges those versions. In December 2014, Russia passed a law banning Nazi propaganda.<sup>111</sup> Authorities conducted raids of bookstores, toy stores, and antique shops in the months leading up to the 70th anniversary of World War II Victory Day celebrations in Russia to clear them of possible Nazi propaganda. A Moscow toy store was prosecuted for extremism for selling toy soldiers in SS uniforms. 112 The "swamp of internal censorship" appears to have led some shops to pull not just historical depictions of Nazism, but also explicitly anti-fascist materials such as Maus, Art Spiegelman's graphic novel about his father's experiences as a Polish Jew during the Holocaust. Maus, first published in Russian in 2013, features a swastika on its cover.113

A journalist toured bookstores across Moscow in April 2015 and noted that bookstores were "voluntarily" removing *Maus* from their shelves and online catalogs in anticipation of raids. 114 Varvara Gornostayeva, editor-in-chief at Korpus, *Maus's* Russian publisher, argued that the simplistic focus on the swastika was missing the point: "There is no Nazi propaganda in it, this is a book that should be on the shelves on Victory Day. It's one of the greatest anti-fascist books, with a deep and piercing message." 115 Spiegelman cautioned against "erasing memory," noting "I don't think *Maus* was the intended target for this, obviously....But I think [the law] had an intentional effect of squelching freedom of expression in Russia. The whole goal seems to make anybody in the expression business skittish." 116

### SHAPING CHILDREN'S MINDS

# Protection of Children from Harmful Information

Several of the laws passed in recent years to restrict information have been justified by a purported need to protect children, including the Law on Protection of Children from Harmful Information and, in part, the anti-gay propaganda law. The government's apparent aim is to ensure that younger Russians are exposed only to information that aligns with and reinforces their officially-sanctioned worldview and values, to shape a new generation of dedicated—and compliant—citizens.

Children's literature may have taken one of the biggest hits in recent years, given the far reach of the Law on Protection of Children from Harmful Information and its amendments. Writer and PEN Trustee Masha Gessen describes the profound chilling effect of the law's requirements and describes a "dumbing down" of literature for kids. Many authors and publishers declare the age of intended audience as older than actually intended out of caution, knowing that a declaration found inappropriate could result in fines, withdrawal of publications and even possible suspension of their activities for up to 90 days. "So," said Gessen, "Books for 5-year olds are marketed to 6-to-12-year olds and books for pre-teens are marketed to teens."

# "Non-Children's Books:" Working Around the New Censorship

Some authors and publishers have found creative ways to work within these constraints. Samokat, an independent publishing house of children's literature, publishes a series of books for teens that deal with themes such as sex and sexuality, drugs, and death. Because the topics are considered age-sensitive, Samokat cannot sell the books to their intended audience and instead publishes the series under the label "Non-Children's Books." But Samokat has resisted the classification of its books based only on a few "taboo" topics, and maintains that books that deal forthrightly with difficult and personal topics "are an antidote to lies and deceit, a guide on living by your mind, to honestly and openly confront reality without falling into panic or depression. It is these books that we have chosen for the series 'Non-Children's Books."118 Samokat's Non-Children's Books challenge the government's notion that children lack the capacity to think for themselves and must be served a carefully-curated version of the truth.

Samokat sells the books, wrapped so that underage

readers cannot access their contents, with a plain white cover perforated vertically down the middle. The book's title and author are printed in black lettering along with the name of the series. However, "Non" is on one side of the perforated line and "Children's Books" on the other. After readers unwrap the books from their plastic, they can remove the white cover to reveal a printed cover with artwork underneath; when they tear the white cover down its perforation they are left with a bookmark declaring "Children's Books." 119

In its note to the series, Samokat's editors confront the constraints they face and appeal for reason:

Samokat Publishing's new series of books touches on issues considered not for children. Therefore we are forced to publish the best works of world young adult literature labeled for ages 16+ or 18+ as required by Federal Law No. 436. However, that deprives their intended audience—young adults—the right to read them! To deal with this absurdity we must rely on the help of those older than 18.

We believe that there are adults who care what their children read. And we hope that thanks to those who understand that literature is not bound by age, our books will make it at the right time into the hands of reading and thinking representatives of the younger generation.<sup>120</sup>

Though the books have escaped censure thus far, Samokat's strategy is not without risks. And the strategy protects the integrity of content at the possible expense of limiting readership. Samokat cannot market the books to children, their intended audience, but must rely on well-meaning adults to put them in children's hands. Irina Balakhonova, Samokat's editor in chief and the recipient of the 2015 Jeri Laber International Freedom to Publish Award, told an interviewer that "In Russia the actions of the government appear precisely aimed at making young people stop reading... or stop reading literature that touches on themes important to their lives: freedom of speech and freedom of choice, personal freedom and its limits, the relationship between the sexes, the body as it matures, drugs, addiction, family and societal relationships, personal responsibility for what is happening around you, ability to empathize, war, death, and others."121



Irina Balakhonova, editor in chief of Samokat

#### Lessons of Intolerance

Russia's anti-gay propaganda law has drastically and unlawfully restricted free expression and contributed to a widespread chilling effect on speech, as has been widely documented. The law has had a particular impact on children, severely limiting their ability to receive information about anything LGBT-related or for LGBT-identifying children to connect with others like them or access vital services to help them cope in Russia's homophobic environment. Furthermore, the law and the government's virulently anti-LGBT messaging has enabled an atmosphere that legitimizes violence and intolerance against LGBT people, including children.<sup>122</sup>

#### **Talking about Difference**

At the initiative of acclaimed Russian novelist Lyudmila Ulitskaya, in 2011 the Institute of Tolerance, an outreach organization based at the All-Russia Library for Foreign Literature, introduced a series of books for children and teens on themes of diversity. The project, called "Different, Differences and about Difference," aims to expand children's worldview and teach tolerance. The series, currently numbering 14 titles, includes books on people with disabilities, migrants, and cultural and family differences."123 One book in the series, Families—Ours and Theirs, by Vera Timenchik, aroused the ire of a group in the Oryol region, 200 miles southwest of Moscow, which organized a few small protests against the Institute and complained to the prosecutor, alleging the book "rapturously propagandizes homosexuality" because of its reference to a family with same-sex parents. The group said that the tolerance centers (regional affiliates of the Tolerance Institute) instill children with "European values" including "the formation of positive attitudes toward homosexuality, incest, and pedophilia." <sup>124</sup>

In her response to criticisms of the book, Ulitskaya said that the book's author had no intention to propagandize homosexuality, but underscored that she and her colleagues are concerned about the rise in homophobia. 125 In February 2014, the prosecutor in Ulyanovsk, a city on the Volga river about 500 miles east of Moscow, launched an investigation into Timenchik's book and Timenchik was called in for questioning by the Moscow Bureau of Investigation, tasked by the Ministry of Internal Affairs with analyzing the book for possible "elements of homosexual propaganda." Although the book was cleared and no further legal action was taken, a climate in which the authors of children's books—or any books—can be hauled to the police for interrogation sends a clear warning signal to others. Although, as Balakhanova told Ekho Moskvy, "there are people for whom the very notion of tolerance is upsetting. For whom the whole idea of tolerance toward anyone, no matter who they are who is different, is disturbing."126 The government's approach privileges these excessive and biased sensitivities at the expense of protecting the rights of its minorities and other vulnerable groups.

Tanya Cooper, Russia researcher at Human Rights Watch, argues that the propaganda law and other laws on expression are designed to promote self-censorship and stop speech before it happens. Cooper says that the law is a "political tool used by the authorities to 'preserve Russian culture.' They see LGBT relationships and liberal values as imported by the West to undermine Russia. The propaganda law fits with the government's anti-Western rhetoric." 127

#### Children-404

Government efforts to suppress LGBT-related expression extend to the online sphere. Deti-404, or Children-404, is an online community for LGBT children and youth with a website and pages on Facebook and Vkontakte. Its name refers to the error message displayed when an internet page is not found, a clever reference to the government's efforts to censor LGBT-related content, and enforce the invisibility of LGBT people in Russia today. The open part of the forum posts letters from LGBT youth and fosters discussion of the challenges faced by LGBT people in Russia. The project also had a closed forum in which LGBT young people could share their problems with adult supporters in a safe, confidential space and receive online consultations from psychologists. Elena Klimova, a journalist from Nizhni Taigil, a city in the Ural region, launched the project in 2013 when she received letters from LGBT teens thanking her after she published a series of articles on the effects of the propaganda law.<sup>128</sup>

Despite the Children-404 community's importance to many young people, some of whom had contemplated suicide before finding a supportive community

# The negative climate for expression, and particularly LGBT activism, has tangible implications for people's lives and safety.

at Children-404, neither it nor Klimova have escaped the reach of the propaganda law.<sup>129</sup> In January 2014 the prosecutor's office launched an investigation into Klimova for alleged violations of the Law on Protection of Children from Harmful Information, but eventually dropped the case. In November 2014, Klimova faced new charges that Children-404 violated the propaganda law, including for providing "propaganda" that being gay can include having "a sense of dignity and self-respect."<sup>130</sup>

Roskomnadzor claimed in a statement that Klimova was not qualified to provide psychological counseling services to children because she is not a trained specialist. In an interview, Klimova replied that Children-404 had 15 trained psychologists working with the online platform. In contrast she said, "what does the state currently offer these teenagers? The answer is obvious: nothing."131 Klimova eventually lost the court battle and in September 2015 Roskomnadzor added the Children-404 page in Vkontakte and the pages of four other online LGBT communities to the list of banned information and ordered the illegal information removed within three days. Under the law, only illegal content must be removed but Klimova said that Roskomnadzor never specified what portion of Children-404's content violated the law. 132 By September 25, Vkontakte's administrators blocked the page, but the same day the group's administrators created a new page that is currently accessible in Russia.<sup>133</sup>

The negative climate for expression, and particularly LGBT activism, has tangible implications for people's lives and safety. Regulations that stigmatize and outlaw LGBT content are reinforced by the actions and failures to act of law enforcement. Russia, with one of the highest adolescent suicide rates in the world, refuses to acknowledge its problems of homophobic violence, including violence against LGBT teens, and through the hateful rhetoric of officials and homophobic policies implicitly sanctions it.<sup>134</sup> A 2014 Human Rights Watch report on violence and harassment against LGBT people and activists in Russia describes how the passage of the propaganda law, combined with official homophobic rhetoric and government inaction to protect LGBT people from violence, created an enabling environment that has allowed vigilantes to harass, threaten, attack, and humiliate LGBT people.<sup>135</sup> Although Russia's anti-gay propaganda laws ostensibly target adult behavior and are aimed at "protecting" children, they have caused children real harm. LGBT children and teens are not permitted to be honest about their identities or to seek and receive information about their sexuality, identity, and health. A February 2014 article in Lenta.ru describes the harassment and abuse suffered by a 9th-grade girl after she was publicly outed by an adult male involved in a group of homophobic vigilantes who monitored the girl's activity in social media networks.<sup>136</sup>

Homophobic crimes, even on the rare occasions when they are investigated and prosecuted, are not prosecuted as hate crimes. This official inaction contrasts starkly with official activism against creativity and expression. Organizers of the Moscow International Book Fair cancelled performances of Olzhas Zhanaidarov's *Soul of a Pillow*, a puppet show about an ill boy who befriends his pillow, after the Ministry of Culture, a sponsor of the Fair, threatened to pull its sponsorship after determining the play had homosexual references because the pillow has a male name.<sup>137</sup> A Ministry official said the play went "against the traditional moral values of Russian culture."<sup>138</sup>

At an April 2014 screening of the film Deti-404, a movie about the challenges faced by LGBT teens, in Moscow, police barged into the theater armed with machine guns, interrupting the screening to check the passports of audience members, looking for underage viewers.139 According to Cooper, who was in the audience, the police, accompanied by anti-LGBT activists, accused audience members of watching child pornography. In comparison, in October 2014, police failed to protect people attending a closed discussion on the challenges of coming out hosted as part of a week of action against homophobia by Moscow's Sakharov Center, a museum and cultural center devoted to the protection of human rights. No minors were allowed to participate in the discussion for fear of violating the propaganda law. A group of thugs and "Orthodox activists" tried to storm the building and an angry mob of approximately 50 people stood outside the exit. Participants were afraid to leave the building, fearing for their safety. When they called the police to ask for protection, police said they could not respond because the participants had not yet been attacked. When the activists attacked the museum's guards, the police finally responded and the participants left while activists yelled threats and threw eggs at them. Police reportedly did not detain any of the activists. 140

# CLOSING INTELLECTUAL AND CULTURAL SPACES

Cultural and intellectual spaces such as the theater, museums, and academia, the vital organs of Russia's rich intellectual and artistic history and crucibles for creativity and discourse, have not escaped the government's assault on freedom of expression. Russia's Minister of Culture, Vladimir Medinsky, a former member of the Presidential Commission Against the Falsification of History and prolific author of history books that have been criticized as revisionist propaganda, <sup>141</sup> has publicly called for a "patriotic" cultural sphere, including a patriotic internet, books, video games, radio, and television. <sup>142</sup> Under Medinsky, the Ministry of Culture established new exhibition licensing requirements under which foreign and domestic movies that "threaten national unity or denigrate [Russia's] culture" will be banned. <sup>143</sup>

As in other realms affected by the Kremlin's policy to control discourse, the government has a wide array of civil and criminal laws it can deploy against individuals and institutions that challenge the strictures. In its efforts to control cultural and intellectual spaces, the government also can use quasi-legal means such as limiting funding or increasing direct oversight to bring independent institutions, many of which are publicly funded, into line.144 Perhaps most striking is the role played by populist activists as Kremlin proxies in promoting the conservative pillars of patriotism, orthodoxy, and authoritarianism<sup>145</sup> in arts and culture by attacking whatever does not fit their worldview. While this method is not unique to attacking cultural institutions, indeed anti-LGBT activists have aided the government's enforcement of the anti-propaganda law, 146 hostile "independent" activists have played a key role in increasing control over cultural and intellectual spaces, in particular theater.

Russian theater, long a source of national pride, flourished in the post-Soviet period and by the early 2000s was among the most vibrant, modern parts of Russia's cultural scene. Mikhail Kaluzhsky, an arts and culture journalist who has also curated theater programs, including at the Sakharov Center in Moscow, described Russian theater in the heady days of the late 1990s and early 2000s as "a beacon of new art and the perfect venue for exploring freedom of expression, even more than literature or cinematography." Now, says Kaluzhsky, in the current closing space for freedom of expression in Russia, "everyone in theater feels the pressure." Just one indication of this pressure is the fact that although Roskomnadzor

does not exercise jurisdiction over theaters, theaters nearly universally comply with Roskomnadzor's regulations on advertising for productions, listing the age of intended audience. Some theaters and directors are also exercising self-censorship or cutting scenes from classic works to avoid triggering unwanted scrutiny. Even classic plays such as Shakespeare's *Romeo and Juliet* may make directors cautious, with its themes of teenage sexuality, defiance of parental authority, and suicide.<sup>148</sup>

# Government Pressure Against Independent Cultural Institutions

The Russian saying "he who pays orders the music," is a particularly apt description of the growing government influence on contemporary Russian theater. Theater in Russia, unlike literature and film, is heavily dependent on state funding, particularly government culture grants, leverage the government is beginning to use in pursuit of its twin objectives to control the space for free discourse and populate it with Kremlin-approved ideas. 149 In just one example, Theater, Russia's foremost professional theater magazine in print since 1937, published what came to be known as the "Ukrainian issue" in December 2014, exploring Ukrainian theater. Theater subsequently had its funding cut off and suspended publication for several issues until it was able to find alternative sources of funding. Later, the Ministry of Culture announced the establishment of a working group to review the "effectiveness" of contemporary theater journals and establish principles for funding them.<sup>150</sup>

#### Golden Mask

The Golden Mask, a national theater prize and juried theater festival, is one of the most important institutions in Russian theater. Since its founding in 1993, the Golden Mask has provided support and given prominence to innovative and political theater. Panels of theater experts select productions for the theater festival and juries comprised of actors, directors, choreographers, conductors, and critics select recipients of the prestige Golden Mask award. The members of the theater union selected the expert panels and juries.<sup>151</sup>

Although the Golden Mask is a non-governmental institution founded by the Union of Theater Professionals, it relies heavily on government funding, leaving it vulnerable to pressure. <sup>152</sup> According to Kaluzhsky, in 2015, the Ministry of Culture "infiltrated" the Golden Mask by insisting

that it would take over selection of the expert panels and juries, compromising the independence of a key cultural institution.<sup>153</sup> The composition of the panels and juries for the 2016 spring festival, announced in October 2015, caused an uproar amongst theater critics and directors across the country who detected that members of the jury had been selected by the Ministry.<sup>154</sup> "Just out of hygienic considerations, I do not want my productions to be seen and evaluated by people who wrote so many gross denunciations and libels about me and about the theater that I serve," prominent director Kirill Serebrennikov wrote on his Facebook page. 155 He and several other directors refused to submit their productions for consideration, two panelists resigned, and nearly 100 theater critics sent an open letter protesting the Ministry of Culture's involvement in the Golden Mask selection.<sup>156</sup>

#### Teatr.doc

Teatr.doc, founded in 2002, is an independent theater collective dedicated to performing groundbreaking documentary plays about life in contemporary Russia.<sup>157</sup> Described as Russia's "most daring"158 and "most controversial"159 theater, Teatr.doc has repeatedly come under pressure by the authorities who have used intrusive legal as well as unofficial means against the theater in apparent retaliation for plays seen as too critical of the Kremlin. In October 2014, the theater announced that city authorities unexpectedly and unilaterally terminated the lease on its small, basement theater in the center of Moscow. Police conducted a raid, filmed by a TV news crew, on the last event scheduled to take place on the premises, a December 30, 2014 screening of a documentary film about Ukraine attended by less than two dozen or so people. Ostensibly responding to a bomb threat, police inspected the passports of all audience members before evacuating them, and searched the premises, damaging some of the theater's property. Ministry of Culture officials, who accompanied the police, viewed the film, apparently to examine it for possible extremism. City officials then welded the door to the theater shut.<sup>160</sup> The theater and its managing director, Elena Gremina, were investigated for extremism, but the cases were eventually dropped. Gremina said "Of course, there was nothing extremist about any of the stuff we do—we just believe in freedom of expression."161

After the symbolic and actual shuttering of Doc, as the theater is known to its audiences, a brigade of volunteers turned out to help fundraise for and renovate a new space. <sup>162</sup> But in May 2015, just three months after Doc's re-opening, it again faced sudden eviction when its landlord, a private company, cancelled its lease without warning. The eviction notice came just after the premier of Doc's play *The Bolotnaya Square Case*, about the experiences of relatives of people imprisoned after the 2012 anti-Putin protests at Bolotnaya Square in Moscow. Gremina told a reporter that while retaliation against Doc was not made explicit, "I simply see

# In the current closing space for freedom of expression in Russia, "everyone in theater feels the pressure."

a specific chain of events. The first is the premiere of *The Bolotnaya Square Case*, with policemen attending the dress rehearsal, followed by investigations by the Emergency Situations Ministry and the fire department. The second is that I, as managing director of Teatr.doc, receive a subpoena from the Prosecutor's Office, and the same day our sublet agreement is annulled."<sup>163</sup>

#### **Insult to Religious Believers**

Laws on incitement to hatred and laws on insulting the feelings of religious believers impose criminal penalties for the expression of particular ideas and have been a powerful weapon against contemporary theater and art in Russia. In these cases, government-appointed experts have the authority to find that speech or expression is prohibited under the law, although the definitions are vague and overbroad. 164 Publisher Danishevsky noted,

Culture in Russia is clearly delineated into official and "other." The Law on Protection of Feelings of Religious Believers is directed at restricting the rights of this "other culture," that which aimed at real thinking on the human experience in today's context, while the law is directed at conserving—limiting development, limiting investigation—protecting not only poorly defined "feelings" but rather the power that stands behind the definition of those feelings.<sup>165</sup>

Article 148 of the Criminal Code, passed in the wake of the Pussy Riot case, criminalizes insulting religious feeling of believers, as broadly defined. This includes "public actions which express obvious disrespect for society and are committed to insult the religious feelings of believers," and imposes penalties that include fines of up to 300,000 rubles or two years' salary or other income for a period of up to two years, up to 240 hours of compulsory labor, or community service or imprisonment for up to one year. Public acts deemed to insult the feelings of religious believers carried out in places of worship carry stiffer penalties. 166

#### **Pressure from Activists**

The last several years have seen a series of protests by

ultra-Russian Orthodox activists against prominent Russian theaters and museums and specific productions or exhibitions. Some of these protests have included raids on theaters, disrupting plays in progress, and vandalizing art works. Kaluzhsky calls this an "unholy alliance" between the government and the Orthodox Church that serves both sides and in which the government tacitly delegates responsibility for enforcing state-approved public morals through informal and often violent means. <sup>167</sup>

#### **Cultural Vigilantism**

A self-styled missionary named Dmitry Tsorionov, who calls himself "Enteo," has led members of his conservative Christian group "God's Will" in raids and demonstrations against cultural events. In August 2015, the group attacked an exhibition called "Sculptures We Don't See," on display in an exhibition space off Red Square in Moscow. "God's Will" activists rushed the exhibition, shouting that the works were offensive, calling for criminal prosecution of artists for "mocking" religious symbols, and damaging several exhibits. Enteo and fellow protestors smashed part of a sculpture by acclaimed sculptor Vadim Sidur, and ripped a linoleum engraving from its plinth and stomped on it.<sup>168</sup> In late 2013 Enteo and members of his group rushed onto the stage during a production of Oscar Wilde's An Ideal Husband, at Moscow's famous Chekhov Theater, decrying "blasphemy" and "sodomy," shouting, throwing microphones, and scuffling with the actors and security guards. 169 The group has also staged a "flashmob" at Moscow's Darwin Museum, which included showering visitors, mainly schoolchildren, with religious leaflets,170 and an "inquisition" at the Moscow offices of Yabloko, an opposition political party, that included seizing all the group's publicly available leaflets and materials and burning them.<sup>171</sup> They have also assaulted LGBT rights activists and supporters of Pussy Riot. 172

While a spokesman for the Moscow Patriarchy, part of the leadership of the Orthodox Church, disavowed a connection between Enteo's actions and religion in a statement on his Facebook page, 173 law enforcement gives the group a relatively free hand. After the August art vandalism, Enteo received a sentence of 10 days in jail for minor hooliganism, another member of the group received a five-day sentence, and two members were fined 1000 rubles (approximately \$15 USD).174 Enteo had never before been held accountable for disruptions and attacks on cultural events.<sup>175</sup> By contrast are the harsh sentences against Pussy Riot and the government's repeated investigations and prosecutions of performance artist Pyotr Pavlensky. Pavlensky faces three years in prison for his performance "Freedom" in which he burned tires and waved a Ukrainian flag to echo the protests in Kyiv's Maidan square. He is currently in custody pending investigation on charges of vandalism for setting fire to the door of the headquarters of the Federal Security Service (FSB) to protest repression.<sup>176</sup> While Pussy Riot and Pavlensky took specific aim at Putin and his policies in their performances, Enteo held a public lecture to address Putin's connection to God and "whether Putin will become God 'by grace." <sup>177</sup>

#### "Blasphemous" Opera

Official and unofficial forces converged to shutter the Novosibirsk State Academic Theater for Opera and Ballet's production of the Wagner opera Tannhauser. The modern-day interpretation of Tannhauser, which premiered in December 2014, included explicit imagery that aroused the ire of the Orthodox Church. The Metropolitan, or regional bishop, announced that the production offended Orthodox believers in violation of the law and filed a complaint with local authorities against Boris Mezdrich, managing director of the opera house and Timofei Kulyabin, Tannhauser's director. 178 After a preliminary investigation into the complaint found no basis for charges, the Metropolitan asked the prosecutor to reopen the case. This time the prosecutor charged both men with offending the feelings of religious believers. Although a Novosibirsk court acquitted Mezdrich and Kulyabin in March 2015, the Orthodox Church organized large demonstrations outside the theater and the Ministry of Culture launched a probe into the allegedly blasphemous production, leading ultimately to culture minister Medinsky firing Mezdrich for "deliberate mockery' of religious belief." 179

Many in the arts community saw the *Tannhauser* case as a turning point. Numerous prominent artists and public figures spoke or wrote in support of the production.<sup>180</sup> Despite Mezdrich and Kulyabin's acquittal on criminal charges, the message to creative risk-takers was clear. To many the case underscored the cumulative chilling effect of Putin's effort to promote a particular set of "Russian values" using the law and its proxies. An expert at the Sova Center, which monitors extremism and xenophobia, called the case "the latest milestone in the direction towards censorship, either by the state or by the Church." According to one commentator, Mezdrich and Kulyabin's acquittals were not a happy ending. Instead,

The Orthodox hierarchy and the repressive machine managed to make a strong case for self-censorship. And that's a more desirable outcome for the Putin regime than a highly publicized, protest-generating guilty verdict that would have created new martyrs for Russia's battered creative class. The result will be a self-censoring media, a cautious movie industry, a largely timid theater community.

Today's oppressive atmosphere in Russia doesn't resemble the era of Communist uniformity. It doesn't express itself with the crude methods of totalitarianism, but a series of mild reminders to toe the line and follow the moral majority.<sup>182</sup>

### REINING IN CIVIL SOCIETY

The government's restrictions on expression have extended to realms beyond the media and internet. In its efforts to shape the information space, including who is able to control and disseminate information, the government has waged a vicious campaign against non-governmental organizations. This campaign, part of the Kremlin's pursuit of the "authoritarianism" pillar of its policy, has targeted human rights organizations—that by definition promote universal rather than "Russian" values and seek to hold Russia to international standards—as well as a wide range of other groups. Environmental groups, organizations that work on social issues, and many others have been forced to restrict their activity or operate under the constant risk of administrative sanctions or closure.

#### Foreign Agents Law

In 2012 Russia adopted amendments to the law regulating non-governmental organizations (NGOs), requiring any NGO that receives foreign funding or engages in "political activity," defined vaguely under the law, to register as "foreign agents," an extremely pejorative term in Russia universally understood to mean spy or traitor. The requirement to register as a foreign agent applies even if the foreign funding does not actually pay for "political activities." The government makes the determination of whether a group's activity meets the definition of political activity not according to the group's own charter but on its "involvement in the logistical or financial organization of, or participation in, 'political acts' aimed at influencing the decision making of public authorities, changing public policy, or influencing public opinion with respect to government policy."183 The law appears intended to marginalize and demonize civil society groups.<sup>184</sup> Russia's civil society sector and especially its robust human rights community, many of whom receive grants from foreign sources, resolutely refused to register as foreign agents.185

After the law's passage, the government launched a wave of intrusive inspections into hundreds of NGOs, after which 55 groups received warnings not to violate

the law and 20 received notice of violations requiring them to register as foreign agents. <sup>186</sup> The Ministry of Justice, the agency responsible for NGO registration, filed administrative and civil cases against NGOs and NGO leaders for failing to register as foreign agents or abide by the law. In 2014 amendments to the foreign agents law expanded the Ministry of Justice's authority to designate independent groups as foreign agents without their consent. Many groups have contested the Ministry of Justice's designation or notification of violations in court, but most have lost their suits. In April 2014 the Constitutional Court upheld the law. <sup>187</sup>

The Foreign Agents Law has enormous implications for freedom of expression. It directly targets ideas and actions that the government finds objectionable or inconvenient-so-called "political activities" as defined however the government wants. The terrible choice the law offers NGOs-to refuse foreign funding, which for many would mean stopping work, or brand themselves "foreign agents"—is no choice at all and has already resulted in the silencing of more than a dozen NGOs working on issues such as human rights and the environment. As of February 2015, at least 13 organizations have taken the decision to shut down rather than bear the foreign agents designation and, as of December 2015, the Ministry of Justice listed more than 100 organizations on its register of foreign agents, including four that registered voluntarily.<sup>188</sup> Recently, authorities in Komi, a northwestern republic of Russia, demonstrated the power of that designation. The authorities burned over 50 books allegedly published with the support of the Soros Foundation, which was classified in November 2015 as an "undesirable" organization. 189 Although the Ministry of Culture attempted to distance itself from the incident, calling it "totally unacceptable," Komi authorities claimed they had destroyed the books in accordance with an order from a presidential envoy.<sup>190</sup> The Human Rights Committee expressed its concern over the law and its "adverse impact on the freedom of expression, assembly, and association," and urged Russia to repeal it.<sup>191</sup>



Protesters attached stickers with the words "lie," "xenophobia," and "censorship" to a poster with federal media outlets' logos.

#### **Undesirables Law**

Federal Law No. 129-FZ of May 23, 2015, which sailed through approval by the Duma, authorizes the government to shut down or ban the activities of foreign or international NGOs found to undermine state security, national defense or the constitutional order. It provides for penalties such as fines and jail time for violations. 192 Most troublingly, however, the law also provides severe penalties for Russian individuals and organizations found to have "involvement" with foreign organizations deemed "undesirable." Although the law does not define "involvement," it appears to prohibit Russian individuals or organizations from working for, receiving funds from, participating in the activities of, or distributing information from undesirable groups. The Prosecutor General has the authority to declare an organization "undesirable" based on information received from other law enforcement bodies, but the procedure, uncontestable in court, is non-transparent and the law does not provide for organizations to be informed that they are being reviewed, so they may only find out about the undesirable designation after the fact.<sup>193</sup>

In July 2015, the Prosecutor General made apparently the first finding that an organization is "undesirable" under the law. It announced that the activities of the National Endowment for Democracy (NED), a US-based organization that funds civil society and human rights activities, "pose a threat to 'constitutional order of the Russian Federation, defense potential and security of the state." In a statement, NED responded that the "true intent of [the undesirable and other] laws is to intimidate and isolate Russian citizens. In addition to declaring the Open Society Foundations an undesirable organization, as noted above, the US-Russia Foundation for Economic Advancement and the Rule of Law has been designated undesirable and its president Mark Pomar has been banned from Russia until 2025. 196

# CONCLUSION: NAVIGATING THE CLOSING SPACE

Self-censorship is a growing concern.
Several writers noted the almost subliminal existence of an "internal editor."

Selective enforcement of the laws restricting expression has had both a chilling effect on the climate for free expression and a destabilizing effect. Although independent websites and sources continue to exist, their very existence is in question. Casual threats by Roskomnadzor that it will block Facebook and Twitter ring as real possibilities, not exaggeration. <sup>197</sup> In a fit of exasperation with the absurdity of this climate, a local newspaper in Saratov reported the suicide of a young teen under the headline "In Saratov, After an Argument With Her Parents a Schoolgirl Did Something For Certain Reasons," underscoring the gaps in the story imposed by the law.

According to the source, after a fight with her parents an 11th grade girl committed an act that it is forbidden to discuss according to Art. 15 of the law on information, under which mass media are forbidden from publishing information about means of committing suicide and appeals to commit suicide. The reason for the event was that something that media are forbidden to publish according to Art. 15 of the law on information.<sup>198</sup>

According to Nabi Abdullaev, the former editor of *The Moscow Times*, <sup>199</sup> these laws have galvanized bureaucratic arbitrariness, with Russian officials applying them at their own discretion. <sup>200</sup> Abdullaev, who resigned as editor after new ownership changed the paper's distribution to weekly and altered editorial policies, explained this by the shift in priorities of the Russian government,

Whatever main goals it pursued in the past, today its ultimate priority is survival of the regime... Any uncontrolled public initiative—from protecting wildlife in a natural park to defending human rights to operating a free media outlet—inevitably runs against the interests of officials, either local or federal, and is perceived and openly portrayed as

a foreign-backed attempt to undermine the regime. Thus, [these initiatives] either have to be constrained, or compromised, or ended entirely. The government works hard not to allow any free association around any ideas—even patriotic ones... or any causes—including harmless ones like supporting young scientists.<sup>201</sup>

In the end, Russia's numerous laws on expression not only impose stark limits on a fundamental human right, but also distinctly privilege the content of some expression over others. Books as such are not banned, but books offering particular views are vaunted and available while others never make it to the bookstores. There is no shortage of news about Ukraine so long as the news reports only what the Kremlin decrees. It is acceptable to vilify LGBT people and deprive them of their jobs, sense of personal safety, and rights to private life but not acceptable to portray a loving LGBT family. What is lost is the freedom to choose, to seek and receive alternate viewpoints. Abdullaev lamented the "loss of freedom" itself:

Now, everyone has to do his cost-benefit analysis of whether it is safe or not to express this or that opinion. It leads to self-censorship in the weaker media outlets, or to painful moral choices in the stronger ones—editors have to live with the idea that a certain article or a commentary can result in the crackdown on their media organization, with the risk of their teams losing jobs, at best. The same applies to campaigners of all kinds who now are fearful of conducting any rallies or demonstrations. In this atmosphere of fear, a certain incalculable amount of public good that could have been achieved... is getting lost.<sup>202</sup>

According to Maria Stepanova, Colta.ru's editor, in the wake of the closure of so many independent media outlets

and websites in Russia, the staff at Colta.ru feel a certain obligation to continue, although its status as one of the few independent sites also makes it increasingly visible to the authorities.<sup>203</sup>

Self-censorship is a growing concern. Several writers noted the almost subliminal existence of an "internal editor," a voice in your brain preventing you from writing, or maybe even thinking, certain things, things that can "complicate" your life. <sup>204</sup> The challenge is to recognize the voice and to reflect on it. As Stepanova says, however, the real challenge is "if you are thinking not about just one article but the whole website, your staff, the future. Maybe we shouldn't name names or write things a certain way so we can continue our work. But if we notice the voice, we can push ourselves."<sup>205</sup>

Stepanova described the situation of Russian media as "deeply hybrid," a knowing yet melancholy assimilation of the Kremlin's classification of the conflict in Ukraine as a "hybrid war," one which blends conventional and unconventional, regular and irregular, cyber and information warfare. <sup>206</sup> The situation, she says,

is not so simple. It is not completely barren earth. And that is what is so sad. The authorities are trying to show that there is no objective truth, and no difference between good and evil. Everything is relative. But that means that no good really exists. The authorities don't say 'we are good and they are bad.' They only say 'we are doing what everyone else is doing. What we are doing is normal.'

This attempt to locate the current Russian reality in some kind of normalizing context is a particularly pernicious threat to the real freedoms to exchange ideas and access information. If there are no truths, only relativity, information and ideas become meaningless and nothing is lost when the right to information and ideas is whittled away.

## **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This report was researched and co-authored by Allison Gill, consultant and former director of Human Rights Watch's Russia office. The report was edited by Katy Glenn Bass, Deputy Director of Free Expression Programs at PEN American Center. Report design was done by Suzanne Pettypiece. PEN thanks all those who kindly agreed to be interviewed for this report. PEN extends special thanks to Serensamuu Budatsyrenova, May Zhee Lim, Anna Shwedel, Elena Skochilo, and Hannah Treasure for research assistance.

#### **APPENDIX 1**

# PEN AMERICAN CENTER LETTER TO THE RUSSIAN EMBASSY IN WASHINGTON, D.C.

January 11, 2016

His Excellency Ambassador Sergey Kislyak Ambassador of the Russian Federation to the United States Embassy of the Russian Federation 2650 Wisconsin Ave. NW Washington, DC 20007

Dear Ambassador Kislyak,

I am writing on behalf of PEN American Center, an organization of writers dedicated to defending free expression and celebrating literature, and part of a network of over 140 PEN Centers worldwide. We are currently preparing a report on free expression in Russia, including Russia's compliance with its obligations to protect free expression under its Constitution, the European Convention on Human Rights, and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. The report focuses primarily on access to information online and free expression in cultural and intellectual areas including book publishing, children's literature, and theater.

We are preparing to release the report at the end of the month, and would like to give the Russian government the opportunity to have its views included in the report. We would appreciate any response the government would like to offer to the following questions by Friday, January 22.

- 1. In recent years the government has taken steps to block or remove materials from many online sources of news and information, including the websites of news media outlets and social media sites. What measures is the government taking to uphold its obligation to protect freedom of the press for all media outlets, regardless of the views expressed by those outlets, and to protect the freedom to seek and impart information for all citizens?
- 2. Several laws passed in recent years, including the 2002 anti-extremism law and its subsequent amendments, the 2010 Law on the Protection of Children from Harmful Information and its subsequent amendments, and the law criminalizing insulting the feelings of religious believers, have been widely criticized for violating the right to free expression. Is the government considering any measures to amend or repeal these laws to ensure they comply with Russia's obligation to protect free expression?
- 3. In determining whether to grant state funding to news media and to cultural institutions, does the government attempt to influence the content produced by those institutions awarded funding?
- 4. The United Nations Human Rights Committee has noted its concern that Russia's law requiring non-governmental organizations that receive foreign funding or engage in political activity to register as "foreign agents" has an adverse impact on freedom of expression, assembly, and association, and has urged the government to repeal or revise the law. Does the government intend to repeal the law or to amend it to ensure that it is in compliance with Russia's obligation to protect free expression?

Thank you for your attention, and I look forward to your reply.

Sincerely yours,

Katherine Glenn Bass Deputy Director, Free Expression Programs PEN American Center

#### **APPENDIX 2**

# RESPONSE FROM RUSSIAN EMBASSY TO PEN REQUEST FOR COMMENT

Received January 26, 2016

Unofficial translation

## About observance of free expression in the Russian Federation

1. The Constitution of the Russian Federation (paragraph 1, article 29) declares the freedom of ideas and speech as a natural and inalienable right of every person. Under freedom of thought we understand a guarantee of government's non-interference in the process of personal opinion and beliefs shaping, people's protection against any other kind of interference, prevention of ideological dictatorship, violence or control over a person. At the same time no one may be forced to express its views and convictions or to reject them.

In terms of a right for freedom of speech implementation everyone possesses a right to freely express its opinion and beliefs on a wide range of subjects of public, state or other nature orally or in writing, at the meetings, political rallies or by other means.

Legal barriers against abuse of the freedom of speech and thoughts are established at the constitutional level by a ban on propaganda or agitation instigating social, racial, national or religious hatred and strife. Propaganda of social, racial, national, religious or linguistic supremacy is prohibited (paragraph 2, article 29).

The essence of the principle of the freedom of information is developed in the paragraph 4, article 29 of the Constitution of the Russian Federation which stipulates that everyone has "the right to freely look for, receive, transmit, produce and distribute information by any legal way".

The Mass Media operates based on accessibility and openness of the data, primarily of that related to the government bodies and local authorities. Among Mass Media constitutional guaranties the following should also be mentioned: freedom of economic activity and the right of private property (articles 8, 34, 35 of the Constitution of the Russian Federation); principle of ideological diversity, envisaging that no ideology may be established as state or obligatory one (article 13); norms entailing responsibility for officials for concealment of the facts and circumstances posing a threat to the life and health of people (paragraph 3, article 41); norms

securing the right to reliable information about the state of environment (article 42), freedom of creative activity and teaching, protection of intellectual property (paragraph 1, article 44), openness to public hearings of the Federal Council of the Russian Federation (paragraph 2, article 100), openness to public of hearings in courts (paragraph 1, article 123), etc.

Citizens of the Russian Federation are guaranteed with the fundamental human rights declared by the world community. Among legal instruments in this sphere are: Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) of December 10, 1948; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights of December 16, 1966; the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedom adopted in Rome on November 4, 1950; Declaration of the Heads of State of the Commonwealth of Independent States on the International Human Rights and General Freedoms Obligations adopted in Moscow on September 24, 1993; Commonwealth of Independent States Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms adopted in Minsk on May 26, 1995.

The Federal Law "On Information, Information Technologies, and Information Protection", No. 149- $\Phi$ 3 as of July 27, 2006, foresees Mass Media's right for search, obtainment, transfer, production and distribution of information, application of information technologies as well as information protection.

Legal Act of the Russian Federation "On Mass Media" № 2124-1 of December 27, 1991 (hereinafter - Mass Media Act) sets a legal framework for mass media status and activities, defines key terminology used in this field (i.e. mass information, mass media, production, media editorial boards, journalist, etc.); disclosures the requirements of inadmissibility of abuse of the mass media freedom; defines legal for Mass Media organizational activity (foundation, registration, etc.) and dissemination of mass information, establishes legal status of the Media, media representatives and their relations with individuals and organizations, intergovernmental cooperation in the area of mass information; stipulates responsibility for non-compliance with the law in this sphere.

In accordance with the Law Mass Media Act (article 3) "censorship of mass information, that is the demand made by officials, state bodies, organizations, institutions or public associations to agree in advance on the content and materials (except for the cases when the official is the

author of the interviewee) as well as suppression of the dissemination of messages and materials and separate parts thereof is forbidden". Thus, despite mass media ownership, any interference into its editorial policy is illegal.

Mass media participation in the elections or referendum are regulated by a separate bunch of laws. According to article 48 of the Federal Law of June 12, 2002 № 67- $\Phi$ 3 "On basic guarantees of electoral rights and the right of citizens of the Russian Federation to participate in a referendum", citizens and public associations are entitled to conduct election campaigning, referendum campaigning within legal boundaries. With that, campaigning along with other lawful methods can be shown on TV channels and periodical publications, i.e. Mass Media.

The Ministry of Communications and Mass Media (hereinafter referred to as Minkomsvyaz) is the main federal executive body responsible for drafting and implementing government policy and legal regulation in the field of mass communications and mass media, including electronic media (development of the Internet, television [including digital], radio broadcasting and new technologies in these fields), printing and book publishing.

The Federal Service for Supervision in the area of Communications, Information Technology and Mass Media (hereinafter referred to as "Roskomnadzor") is affiliated to Minkomsvyaz. This institution executes state control and supervision, including compliance with legal acts of the Russian Federation in the sphere of mass media and mass communications, TV and radio broadcasting; it is in charge of Mass Media registration, updates federal registers and license registers; issues permits for the dissemination of foreign periodic printed publications on the territory of the Russian Federation, etc.

The Federal Agency on Press and Mass Communications (hereinafter referred to as "Rospechat") is also overseen by Minkomsvyaz of Russia. It provides state services, manages government-owned property in the sphere of press, mass media and mass communications, including public computer networks of electronic mass media information, printing and publishing.

Rospechat cooperates with the Russian Book Chamber (affiliated to Minkomsvyaz of Russia). It forms data bases on printed media, maintains bibliographical and statistical records of the printed materials released on the territory of the Russian Federation; registers mandatory copies of the periodic printed publications based on federal statistical supervision forms №1-И (Mass Media) and obligatory editor's copies.

Besides federal agencies of the executive brunch, the state authorities of subjects of the Russian regions and local bodies help to promote the right to information.

Therefore, in Russia there is a comprehensive legal mechanism of implementation and protection of citizens' right to information.

Currently in the Russian Federation a universal and

complex approach protecting freedom of speech and expression has been adopted.

It contains several moments. Firstly, ban on obstruction of journalists' activity.

The Criminal Code of the Russian Federation (article 144) establishes penalties for obstructing lawful professional journalist activities by forcing to spread or refuse to spread information. The sanctions became more severe if the act is committed by the person using his/her official capacity.

The person could face imprisonment for up to six years if these acts were combined with violence against a journalist, his/her relatives or causing damage or destruction to their property as well as with a threat of such violence.

Crimes against journalists are prosecuted under federal law in accordance with Article 63 of the Criminal Code of the Russian Federation that stipulates more severe punishment for crimes committed against a person or its relatives carrying out professional activity or a social duty.

Secondly, information sources protection. According to Russian law, a journalist has the right not to reveal a source. There must be a special court decision to disclose the source of information.

The law of the Russian Federation of December 27, 1991 No 2124-1 «On Mass Media» (hereinafter Mass Media Act) stipulates the right of a journalist to present his personal judgments and assessments in reports and materials signed by him/her.

However, article 43 of the Mass Media Act guarantees an individual or organization the right to demand from an aditorial body a denial of information that that has been made public and doesn't correspond to reality discrediting his/her honor and dignity. Same rights apply to the legitimate representatives of the individual if the individual is not able to require an official rebuttal. If the editorial house has no proof that the information presented is real, its rebuttal should be officially stated in the same media.

The rebuttal procedure of unreliable information is described in the article 44 of the Mass Media Act. Same act foresees legislation for infringement of media freedom (including journalists' actions) by civilians, public officials and public associations.

2. Enacted by the Russian State Duma and approved by the Federation Council of 18 July, 2012 the federal law "On amendments to federal law "On children protection from information and other legislative acts of the Russian Federation" № 89417-6 (hereinafter – the federal law) is aimed at child protection from information harmful to their health and development, including materials distributed on the Internet.

According to the legal act an automated information system—"Unified Register of domain names, website references and network addresses that allow to identify

websites containing information forbidden in the Russian Federation" is being created.

New data is included in the Unified Register in accordance with:

- The decisions of an executive body authorized by the Government of the Russian Federation, regarding to the following information containing:
- a. pornographic images of minors;
- b. engagement of minors as performers during entertainment events of pornographic nature;
- manufacturing and use of narcotic, psychotropic substances and their precursors; places of acquisition of drugs, substances and their precursors;
- d. ways to commit a suicide, as well as calls to commit a suicide.
- The effective court decision on recognition of certain information distributed on the Internet as information prohibited for distribution in the Russian Federation.

With that, the decision to include data into the Register can be contested by the web site's owner, hosting provider or mobile network operator who provide internet access according to court decision.

Besides, Federal Law stipulates the procedure of the information expert review that can be initiated by governmental or local bodies, legal entities, individual entrepreneurs, civil organizations, and citizens. In case of disagreement with expert evaluation, an interested person can contest the decision in court.

It is worth noticing, that in recent years the legislation regarding forced blocking of prohibited Internet resources has become more severe in a number of countries.

For example, in Great Britain since 2006 the ban on the distribution of the child pornography and other inappropriate materials is done by blocking access to illegal websites (the list of those is shaped by key internet providers, telecommunication companies, law-enforcement agencies and civil society).

In Denmark, Finland, Italy, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, New Zealand, and Malta have a special system against child pornography distribution (Child Sexual Abuse Anti-Distribution Filters, CSAADF). It eliminates any possibility to browse websites where child pornography is distributed.

In CSAADF member countries such excessive blocking that implies inability to visit websites that use the same domain addresses as child pornography recourses is considered beneficial as it has a restraining effect over domain names holders and hosting providers.

"Bill C-22" entered into force in Canada in December, 2011 obliges all telecommunication companies, e-mail operators and other Internet actors to inform law-enforcement agencies on the facts of child pornography distribution on the Internet.

Russian Federation State Duma Committee on Family,

Women and Children Affairs carries out a regular monitoring of regulatory compliance practices for future update of legislation in the area of children's information security.

Special attention is paid to offences of extremist nature that require immediate prosecutor's response aimed at anticipation of extremist activity. According to Federal law of July 25, 2002 №114-ФЗ "On Counteraction of Extremist Activities" publications inciting manifestations of extremism that are associated with the spread of unreliable information, distorted information or leading the situation towards ethnic, religious or national confrontation are prohibited. Mass Media materials that promote extremist activities, i.e. religious discord, exclusiveness, superiority or inferiority on the basis of spiritual beliefs, attitude towards religion, etc. are also considered of extremist nature.

3. Government interference into Media affairs is prohibited by the Constitution of the Russian Federation, Mass Media Act and other legislative acts as it is a direct violation of professional independence of both public and private media. Also Government provides financial support to the Media, including the above mentioned grants and subsidies in order to provide access to information granted by the Constitution of the Russian Federation.

The federal bodies on a regular basis inform the socially important media about significant public activities, providing timely details on current events.

Taking into account the size of the Russian Federation and the fact that a big part of Russia's population lives in underpopulated areas and difficult terrain, that due to economic reasons, are of no interest to media business, the federal Government provides physical and financial accessibility of different information resources – free TV and radio broadcasting (10 TV and radio channels), press (additional free edition of "Rossiyskaya Gazeta" for low-income population, subscription benefits for local and a big number of regional and federal newspapers and magazines).

Moreover, considering the rapid development of the Internet into consideration, the Government has undertaken a mission to create all necessary infrastructure to provide communities of 500 and more people with wideband internet access, which had never been fulfilled by private providers, because even in 20 years it will never pay back such for a wide and ramified network spread all over the country, including places with severe climate and geographical conditions.

**4.** The main legislative acts that regulate NPO activities in Russia are Federal Act №82-Φ3 "On public Organizations" of May 19, 1995 and Federal Act №7-Φ3 "On non-profit Organizations" of January 12, 1996.

Corresponding Russian legislation and its law-enforcement practices are subject to change according to changes in civil society. In order to make civil organizations more transparent, in July, 2012 amendments to both laws "On

public Organizations" and "On non-profit Organizations" were introduced. Those amendments imply that national NPOs that receive financial and material support from abroad and are engaged in politics should register in Russia as "NPO performing as foreign agent". This measure provoked massive criticism from our "partners" who consider this with the help of several Russian NPOs as an illustration of pressure upon civil society. It is obvious that this approach is biased and non-objective.

Foremost, the current legislation of the Russian Federation does not forbid Russian NPOs to receive funding from foreign sources or to carry out any political activities. Secondly, the Constitutional Court of the Russian Federation in the decree №10-Π of April 8, 2014 directly indicates that the introduction of the term an "NPO as foreign agent" has no negative connotation and no negative image of their activity is created and therefore can not be interpreted as manifestation of distrust or desire to compromise such NPOs. NPO's recognition as "foreign agents" does not imply any legal consequences ending up in termination of the organization. Thirdly, NPO is recognized as "foreign agent" irrelevant of its political assessments of the state policy (both positive and negative). Fourthly, on March 8, 2015 Federal law №43-Φ3 introduced amendments to Russian legislation under which public organizations or associations included in the "foreign agent" register can withdraw from it. From 2012 to January 2016 out 227.000 Russian NPO's only 113 have been included in the "foreign agent" registry (21 of them have been already excluded from the list).

Russia is undertaking measures to provide more transparency not only among Russian, but also foreign public strictures operating on our country. This causes negative feedback from our western "partners".

According to Federal law of December 28, 2012 №272-Φ3 "On measures applied to people violating fundamental human rights and freedoms of citizens of the Russian Federation" (amended by Federal Act №129-Ф3 of May 23, 2015) only activity of a foreign or international NPO, which constitutes "a threat to the basis of the constitutional order of the Russian Federation, defense capacity or security of the state", may be deemed undesirable on the territory of our country by the General prosecutor of the Russian Federation or his/her deputies. Such a decision is made based on aggregate information from interested state bodies, as well as requires compulsory consultation with the MFA of Russia, avoiding preconception. Such NGO's are not allowed to open branch offices in Russia, implement any projects, as well as carry out financial or assets operations. Involvement of individuals in similar activities will give lead to administrative or criminal liability (in case of numerous violations). Currently the Register includes four NGO's, all of them from the U.S.: NED, Open Society Foundations, OSI Assistance Foundation and U.S.-Russia Foundation for Economic Advancement and the Rule of Law.

It is important that Russia's measures to streamline political activity of non-governmental organizations, Russian and foreign alike, do not contradict its international obligations in the field of human rights.

According to article 10 and 11 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR, 1950) the freedom of expression and assembly are subject to certain restrictions that are necessary in democratic society in the interests of national security, territorial integrity or public safety, as well as for prevention of disorder and crime. According to article 16 of the ECHR "nothing in articles 10, 11 and 14 [on the right of freedom of expression, assembly, and non-discrimination] shall be regarded as preventing the High Contracting Parties from imposing restrictions on the political activity of aliens". In a similar way articles 19 and 22 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966) indicate that the right for freedom of expression and the right for freedom of association may fall under restrictions, which are prescribed by law and are necessary for the protection of national security or public safety, public order.

Neither are they something special in the world practice: any form of foreign influence on internal political processes becomes subject of scrutiny by public authorities in every country facing this problem. Restrictive rules on public organizations can be found in the legislation of many countries, including the United States, Great Britain, France, India, China, Belgium, Germany, Czech Republic, and Israel. According to renowned international research centers and media (International Center for Not-for-Profit Law, The Guardian, Thomson Reuters Foundation). Since 2012 only more than 90 legal acts regarding more severe regulation of associations, their activities and foreign financial support have been or will be adopted in different countries.

### **ENDNOTES**

- 1 Government raids and other pressure on independent TV stations ensured their ownership by oligarchs friendly to he Kremlin. See Jill Dougherty, How the Media Became Putin's Most Powerful Weapon, The Atlantic (April 21, 2015) http://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2015/04/how-the-media-became-putins-most-powerful-weapon/391062/.
- 2 Federal Law No. 114-FZ of July 25, 2002 on the Counteraction of Extremist Activity, available in English at http://www.legislationline.org/documents/action/popup/id/4368. The law has been amended several times. *The Structure of Russian Anti-Extremist Legislation*, SOVA Center for Information and Analysis (November 2010) http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009\_2014/documents/droi/dv/201/201011/20101129\_3\_10sova\_en.pdf.
- 3 Vladimir Putin: a biographical timeline, NPR, http://www.npr.org/news/specials/putin/biotimeline. html; David M. Herszenhorn, Putin Wins, but Opposition Keeps Pressing, The New York Times (March 4, 2012), http://www.nytimes.com/2012/03/05/world/europe/russia-votes-in-presidential-election.html?\_r=0; Daniel Treisman, Putin and Medvedev, trading places, CNN (September 26, 2011) http://www.cnn.com/2011/09/26/opinion/treisman-putin-medvedev/.
- 4 Lena Jonson, *Russia: Cultural Freedom under Threat*, Freemuse Insight Series for Artsfreedom.org (May 11, 2015) http://artsfreedom.org/?p=9026.
- 5 The Constitution of the Russian Federation was adopted on December 12, 1993. 54.8% of voters took part in the referendum, and 58.4% of those voters voted in favor of the proposed Constitution. It came into force on December 25, 1993. *The Constitution of Russia*, Official Web Portal of the President of Russia [accessed January 21, 2016] http://archive.kremlin.ru/eng/articles/ConstMain.shtml.
- 6 Constitution of the Russian Federation, Art. 29, parts 1, 4-5, available in English at http://www.constitution.ru/en/10003000-03.htm.
  - 7 Id. Art. 55, part 3.

- 8 Art. 10, European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, as amended by Protocols Nos. 11 and 14, [hereinafter ECHR], Council of Europe (November 4, 1950), *available at*: http://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention\_ENG.pdf.
- 9 Tatyana Beschastna, Freedom of Expression in Russia as it Relates to Criticism of the Government, Emory International Law Review, http://law.emory.edu/eilr/content/volume-27/issue-2/comments/freedom-expression-russia.html; Yekaterina Sinelschikova, Russia can now ignore rulings by European human rights court, Russia Beyond the Headlines (December 9, 2015), http://rbth.com/politics\_and\_society/2015/12/09/russia-can-now-ignore-rulings-by-european-human-rights-court\_549131; Putin signs law allowing Russia to ignore international rights court, Al Jazeera (December 15, 2015), http://america.aljazeera.com/articles/2015/12/15/new-law-allows-russia-to-ignore-international-rights-court.html.
- 10 International Covenant on Civil & Political Rights, [hereinafter ICCPR],Art. 19 (December. 19, 1966) available at: http://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx .
- 11 U.N. Human Rights Comm., General Comment No. 34, Article 19: Freedoms of Opinion and Expression ¶ 44, U.N. Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34 (September 12, 2011) available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/ bodies/hrc/docs/GC34.pdf (noting, in addition, that any accreditation schemes to enable privileged access must be applied in a non-discriminatory manner, based on objective criteria, and "taking into account that journalism is a function shared by a wide range of actors."); see also Special Rapporteur on the Situation of Human Rights Defenders, Fourth Rep. on the Situation of Human Rights Defenders ¶ 122, U.N. Doc. A/HRC/19/55 (December 21, 2011), available at http://www.ohchr. org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session19/A-HRC-19-55\_en.pdf (stating that the "protection of journalists and media workers active on human rights issues should not be limited to those formally recognized as such, but should include other relevant actors, such as community media workers, bloggers and those monitoring demonstrations.")

- 12 Id. at art. 19; U.N. Human Rights Comm., General Comment No. 34, Article 19: Freedoms of Opinion and Expression ¶¶ 11-12, U.N. Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34 (September 12, 2011) http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf.
  - 13 General Comment No. 34 at ¶ 11.
- 14 Resolution 59(1), Calling of an International Conference on Freedom of Information, (Dec. 14, 1946); UDHR, Art. 19.
- 15 ICCPR at art. 19 (3) (restrictions on freedom of expression are limited to situations which implicate the rights of others or for the protection of national security, public order, public health, or morals); General Comment No. 34 at ¶ 21. See also Art. 10(2) of the ECHR.

16 Id.

- 17 General Comment No. 34 at ¶¶ 27-35.
- 18 See generally Revelations from the Russian Archives: Internal Workings of the Soviet Union, Library of Congress (1996), http://www.loc.gov/exhibits/archives/ackn.html; Tatyana Beschastna, Freedom of Expression in Russia as it Relates to Criticism of the Government, Emory International Law Review, http://law.emory.edu/eilr/content/volume-27/issue-2/comments/freedom-expression-russia.html; 2014 Human Rights Reports: Russia, U.S. Department of State (June 25, 2015), available at: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2014/eur/236570.htm.
- 19 Уголовный кодекс Российской Федерации от 13.06.1996 N 63-ФЗ (ред. от 13.07.2015, с изм. от 16.07.2015) (с изм. и доп., вступ. в силу с 25.07.2015). Criminal Code of the Russian Federation, Art. 282 available at: http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=191695;fld=134;fr om=174173-5303;rnd=184768.692155956972572 ;;ts=01847682630170965376595. Harsher penalties apply when these actions are committed with application of force or threat, by a person who used his/her professional status or by an organized group. Id.
- 20 E-mail from Nabi Abdullaev, dated November 15, 2015 [On file with the author].
- 21 Id.; Criminal Code of the Russian Federation, Art. 282, part 1.
- 22 The changes outlawed "public, online calls aimed at violating the territorial integrity of the Russian Federation." Tanya Lokshina, *Dispatches: Russia*,

Crimea, and the Shrinking Space for Free Speech, Human Rights Watch (September 18, 2015), https://www.hrw. org/news/2015/09/18/dispatches-russia-crimea-andshrinking-space-free-speech. See also Peter Roudik, Legal Provisions on Fighting Extremism: Russia, Library of Congress (April 2014), http://www.loc.gov/law/help/fighting-extremism/russia.php#\_ftn28; Maria Kravchenko, Inappropriate Enforcement of Anti-Extremist Legislation in Russia in 2013, SOVA Center for Information and Analysis (June 4, 2014), http://www.sova-center.ru/ en/misuse/reports-analyses/2014/06/d29660/. The maximum penalty for incitement to violation of territorial integrity of Russia is four years' imprisonment, and for calling for separation in the media is up to give years in prison. Федеральный закон от 28.06.2014 № 179-ФЗ "О внесении изменений в отдельные законодательные акты Российской Федерации"

[Federal Law # 179-FZ about Amendments of Separate Acts of Law of the Russian Federation], *available at:* http://pravo.gov.ru:8080/page.aspx?108790.

- 23 Федеральный закон от 29.12.2010 г. № 436-ФЗ О защите детей от информации, причиняющей вред их здоровью и развитию, [Federal Law # 436-FZ about Protection of Children from Information Harmful to Their Health and Development] available at: http://kremlin.ru/acts/bank/32492. The law was passed by the Duma in December 2010 and signed by then-President Medvedev in January 2011.
- 24 Telephone interview with Masha Gessen, dated September 22, 2015.
- 25 Note of the State Legal Department, Kremlin, January 3, 2011. The law itself is divided into sections; Art. 5 of the law discusses "types of information harmful to the health and/or development of children." According to the Kremlin legal note explaining the law, given the "contemporary development of mass communications and information technology parents and teachers are not able to protect children sufficiently from negative information and information that may be harmful to their health." The statement goes on to explain that the law does not intend to shield children from all problems or to "create the illusion that there is no evil, violence, or death." However, according to the Kremlin, it is vital to present information to children when they are capable of understanding and accepting it, and in age-appropriate ways: "For example, it is possible to tell even young children about violence, though while expressing empathy to the victims and in such a way that, in the end, good necessarily triumphs over evil." Law is signed aimed at the protection of children from negative and harmful information: the President has signed Federal Law 'On the protection of children from information

harmful to their health and development, President of Russia (January 3, 2011) available at: http://kremlin.ru/events/president/news/9996.

- 26 According to Chapter 4 of the Federal Law on Protection Children from Harmful Information, information products are reviewed by expert commissions for compliance with rules; regulating procedures declaring the age of intended audience; and finding violations of the law. Федеральный закон от 29.12.2010 N 436-ФЗ (ред. от 29.06.2015) "О защите детей от информации, причиняющей вред их здоровью и развитию" [Federal Law # 436-FZ about Protection of Children from Information Harmful to Their Health and Development] available at: http://base.consultant. ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=181927;fld=134;dst=100153,0;rnd=0.28837822820059955. The expert commission is subordinate to Roskomnadzor. Федеральный закон от 29.12.2010 N 436-ФЗ (ред. от 29.06.2015) "О защите детей от информации, причиняющей вред их здоровью и развитию" [Article 4 of Federal Law # 246-FZ, as amended on June 29, 2015] available at: http://www.consultant. ru/document/cons\_doc\_LAW\_108808/9b1bc14fbd433179ef6b34341c0aafdf658ef145/.
- 27 Law on the Protection of Children from Harmful Information, Art. 6.
  - 28 Id., Art. 7-10.
  - 29 Id., Art. 12.
  - 30 Id., Art. 13 (2).
  - 31 Id., Art. 14.
  - 32 Id., Art. 16 (2).
- 33 According to Article 6.17 of the Law on Protection Children from Harmful Information and Article 17 of Chapter 2 of the Federal Law on Protection Rights of Legal Entities and Individual Entrepreneurs While State and Municipal Monitoring, if violations are not eliminated, a product will be removed. Федеральный закон от 26.12.2008 N 294-ФЗ (ред. от 13.07.2015, с изм. от 03.11.2015) "О защите прав юридических лиц и индивидуальных предпринимателей при осуществлении государственного контроля (надзора) и муниципального контроля" (с изм. и доп., вступ. в силу с 30.10.2015) available at: http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=179017;fld=134;dst=1000000347,0;rnd=0.22522494639270008.
  - 34 The "propaganda law" amends the Law on the

Protection of Children from Harmful Information as well as the Administrative Code. *License to Harm: Violence and Harassment against LGBT People and Activists in Russia*, Human Rights Watch (December 15, 2014) p. 15. *available at:* https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/russia1214\_ForUpload.pdf; *Russian 'Anti-Gay' Bill Passes With Overwhelming Majority*, Sputnik News (June 11, 2013), http://sputniknews.com/society/20130611/181618460/Russian-Anti-Gay-Bill-Passes-With-Overwhelming-Majority.html.

- 35 "Кодекс Российской Федерации об административных правонарушениях" от 30.12.2001 N 195-ФЗ (ред. от 03.11.2015) [Code of Administrative Offenses # 195-FZ]. Article 6.17 of Code of Administrative Offenses of the Russian Federation available at http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=187205;fld=134;dst=3656,0;rnd=0.9836506198626012. The penalties are regulated by the articles 6.17 and 6.21 of the Code of Administrative Offenses, Article 6.21. Propaganda of non-traditional sexual relations among juveniles, available at http://www.zakonrf.info/koap/6.21/.
- 36 United Nations Human Rights Committee, Concluding Observations on the Seventh Periodic Report of the Russian Federation, adopted on March 31, 2015, ¶10 available at: https://www.fidh.org/IMG/pdf/ccpr\_c\_rus\_co\_7\_19979\_e-1.pdf.
- 37 *Russia: Homophobic, Abusive Bill,* Human Rights Watch (November 4, 2015) *available at:* https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/11/04/russia-homophobic-abusive-bill.
  - 38 Id.
- 39 Peter Spinella, *Religious Offense Charges Against Russian Opera Director Dropped*, The Moscow Times (March 10, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/religious-offense-charges-against-russian-opera-director-dropped/517217.html, Как определить, являются ли конкретные высказывания оскорблением? Sovietnik.Consultant, [How to determine if specific statements are an insult?] *available at:* http://sovetnik.consultant.ru/pravila\_povedeniya/chto\_po\_zakonu\_yavlyaetsya\_oskorbleniem\_chuvstv\_veruyuwih/#4.
- 40 "Уголовный кодекс Российской Федерации" от 13.06.1996 N 63-ФЗ (ред. от 13.07.2015, с изм. от 16.07.2015) (с изм. и доп., вступ. в силу с 25.07.2015) [Criminal Code of Russian Federation] available at: http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=174173;fld=134;dst=1345,0;rnd=0.23494985606521368.

- 41 Art. 1, Regulation No. 228 of the Government of the Russian Federation of the Federal Service for the Supervision of Communications, Information Technology and Mass Media (March 16, 2009) *available at* http://eng.rkn.gov.ru/about/.
- 42 Only established as a separate agency in 2008, Roskomnadzor was previously part of Rossvyazohran-cultura, the Federal Service for Supervision of Mass Media, Telecommunications, and Protection of Cultural Heritage. *Historical Background: About Roskomnadzor*, The Federal Service for Supervision of Communications, Information Technology, and Mass Media (May 20, 2014), http://eng.rkn.gov.ru/about/background\_information/.
- 43 Daniil Turovsky, *This is how Russian Internet censorship works*, Meduza (August 13, 2015) *available at:* https://meduza.io/en/feature/2015/08/13/this-is-how-russian-internet-censorship-works.

#### 44 Id.

- 45 The most recent Human Rights Report from the U.S. Department of State details Roskomnadzor's recent warnings and bans, explaining that the "government continued to use legislation and decrees to curtail media freedom," 2014 Human Rights Report: Russia, U.S. Department of State (June 25, 2015) available at: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2014/eur/236570. htm.
- 46 Michael Idov, My Accidental Career as a Russian Screenwriter, The New York Times Magazine (January 7, 2016) available at: http://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/10/magazine/my-accidental-career-as-a-russian-screenwriter.html?smid=nytcore-ip-ad-share&smprod=nytcore-ipad&\_r=0.
- 47 Interview with Maria Stepanova, dated October 9, 2015.
- 48 E-mail from Nabi Abdullaev, dated November 15, 2015 [on file with the author].
- 49 Interview with Maria Stepanova, dated October 9, 2015.
- 50 Freedom on the Net 2015: Russia, Freedom House (2015), https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2015/russia.
- 51 Daniil Turovsky, *This is how Russian internet censorship works*, Meduza (August 13, 2015), https://meduza.io/en/feature/2015/08/13/this-is-

- how-russian-internet-censorship-works. Roskom-nadzor Unified Registry of domain names, Internet sites, and IP addresses containing information banned in the Russian Federation are available in English and in Russian at *Unified Register*; The Federal Service for Supervision of Communications, Information Technology, and Mass Media, http://eais.rkn.gov.ru.
- 52 Daniil Turovsky, *This is how Russian Internet censorship works*, Meduza (August 13, 2015) *available at:* https://meduza.io/en/feature/2015/08/13/this-is-how-russian-internet-censorship-works.
- 53 Elizabeth Zolotukhina, *Internet Censorship in Russia: Citizens' Responses and the Kremlin's Aims*, Centre for Geopolitics & Security in Realism Studies (November 22, 2015) http://www.cgsrs.org/files/files/publications\_33.pdf.
- 54 Tanya Lokshina, *Dispatches: Russia, Crimea and the Shrinking Space for Free Speech*, Human Rights Watch, (September 18, 2015) https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/09/18/dispatches-russia-crimea-and-shrinking-space-free-speech.
- 55 Freedom on the Net 2015, Freedom House, available at: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2015/russia. Russia received a score of 62 out of 100, with a zero being the best and 100 the worst. Id.
- 56 Adrian Chen, *The Agency*, The New York Times Magazine (June 2, 2015), *available at:* http://www.nytimes.com/2015/06/07/magazine/the-agency.html.
- 57 See generally Jill Dougherty, How the Media Became One of Putin's Most Powerful Weapons, The Atlantic (April 21, 2015), http://www.theatlantic. com/international/archive/2015/04/how-the-mediabecame-putins-most-powerful-weapon/391062/; Simon Shuster, Inside Putin's On-Air Machine, Time (March 5, 2015), http://time.com/rt-putin/; How Russia is Winning the Propaganda War, Der Spiegel (May 30, 2014), http://www.spiegel.de/international/world/ russia-uses-state-television-to-sway-opinion-at-homeand-abroad-a-971971.html; Andrei Malgin, "Kremlin Propaganda Leaves No Russian Behind" The Moscow Times, (June 17, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes. com/arts\_n\_ideas/opinion/article/kremlin-propaganda-leaves-no-russian-behind/523869.html[La Nostra Gazzetta, a Russian-language paper in Italy, was rescued from bankruptcy around the same time they started publishing pro-Putin and anti-Western news.]

Elias Groll, "Kremlin's 'Sputnik' Newswire is the Buzzfeed of Propaganda" Foreign Policy, November 10, 2014. http://foreignpolicy.com/2014/11/10/

kremlins-sputnik-newswire-is-the-buzzfeed-of-propaganda/.

- 58 Alec Luhn, Russia's Reality Trolls and the MH17 War of Misinformation, Foreign Policy, (Oct. 13, 2015), http://foreignpolicy.com/2015/10/13/russias-reality-trolls-and-the-mh17-war-of-misinformation-buk-missile/.
  - 59 E-mail from Nabi Abdullaev.
- 60 James Miller, *Putin's People are Not Happy With Us*, The Interpreter, Jan. 19, 2016, http://www.interpretermag.com/putins-people-are-not-happy-with-us/.
- 61 Russia Today rebranded as RT in 2009. John O'Sullivan, The difference between real journalism and Russia Today, The Spectator (Dec. 6, 2014) http://www.spectator.co.uk/2014/12/the-truth-about-russia-today-is-that-it-is-putins-mouthpiece/; Cameron Trainer, Russia Today, the Legacy of Mikhal Lesin, Foreign Affairs Review (Nov. 19, 2015), http://foreignaffairsreview.co.uk/2015/11/russia-today-the-legacy-of-mikhal-lesin/; Cynthia Hooper, Putin's 'Fair and Balanced' Propaganda Coup, Newsweek, (April 3, 2015), http://www.newsweek.com/putins-fair-and-balanced-propaganda-coup-319365.
- 62 RT, "Putin Talks NSA, Syria, Iran, Drones in RT Interview," June 12, 2013, http://rt.com/news/putin-rt-interview-full-577/; Daniel Kochis, *Countering Russian Propaganda Abroad*, Heritage Foundation Issue Brief No. 4286 (Oct. 2014), http://www.heritage.org/research/reports/2014/10/countering-russian-propaganda-abroad.
- 63 Russian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Concept of the Foreign Policy of the Russian Federation, February 12, 2013, http://www.mid.ru/brp\_4.nsf/0/76389FE-C168189ED44257B2E0039B16D; Daniel Kochis, Countering Russian Propaganda Abroad, Heritage Foundation Issue Brief No. 4286 (Oct. 2014), http://www.heritage.org/research/reports/2014/10/countering-russian-propaganda-abroad.
- 64 TNS-global website. Available at: http://www.tns-global.ru/press/news/344111/.
- 65 Levada Center survey: Trust in Mass Media, October 23, 2015, available at: http://www.levada.ru/2015/10/23/doverie-k-smi/.
- 66 Blogger Vadim Tyumentsev was sentenced to five years in prison in December 2015 after being accused of "inciting hatred against the inhabitants of Donetsk

- and Lugansk regions of Ukraine" (Arts. 282 and 280 of Criminal Code) for posting two videos on the internet. Pregnant leftist activist Elizaveta Lisitsyna (Krasikova) was sentenced to a fine of 100,000 rubles in March 2014 after reposting the article *Appeal of the Ukrainians to the people of Russia* from the community "Anarcho-News" on *Vkontakte*. She was accused of public incitement to extremism under part 1 of Art. 280 of Criminal Code. Artem Severskiy, В интернете собирают подписи против "борьбы с экстремизмом" и "мыслепреступлениями" [Collecting signatures against the "fight against extremism" and "thought crimes" on the internet] (January 13, 2016) https://openrussia.org/post/view/11987/.
- 67 ЛГБТ-активиста из Тольятти заподозрили в экстремизме [LGBT Activist from Toletti suspected of extremism] BBC Russia (May 13, 2015) http://www.bbc.com/russian/russia/2015/05/150513\_togliatti\_gay\_activist.
- 68 Sergei Khazov, Я боялся возвращаться домой [I Was Afraid to Come Back Home,] Radio Svoboda (August 14, 2015) *available at:* http://www.svoboda.org/content/article/27188733.html.
- 69 The caricature featured Prime Minister Medvedev "wearing a traditional Caucasus hat with some Arab text in the background and a statement at the bottom of the photo that read: 'Death to Russian vermin.'" Case of Dmitry Semenov, Columbia University Global Freedom of Expression Index, https://globalfreedomofexpression.columbia.edu/cases/case-of-dmitry-semenov/.
- 70 Semenov was convicted under Art. 280, part 1 of the Criminal Code. Активист Семенов в Чувашии обжаловал приговор за карикатуру на Дмитрия Медведева [Activist in Semenov in Chuvashia appeals for caricature of Dmitri Medvedev], Vestia, (September 29, 2015), https://ch.versia.ru/aktivist-semenov-v-chuvashii-obzhaloval-prigovor-za-karikaturu-na-dmitriya-medvedeva; Постановление Государственной Думы от 24 апреля 2015 г. N 6576-6 ГД г. Москва. [The State Duma's Resolution from April 24, 2015 N 6576-6 SD Moscow], available at: http://www.rg.ru/2015/04/24/amnistia-site-dok.html.
- 71 Дело обвиняемого в экстремизме чувашского активиста передают в суд [Chuvash Activist Accused of Extremism is Taken to Court], Human rights in Russia, (April 29, 2015), http://www.hro.org/node/22119.
- 72 Skype interview with Maria Stepanova, dated October 9, 2015.

- 73 Tanya Lokshina, *Dispatches: Russia, Crimea and the Shrinking Space for Free Speech*, Human Rights Watch, (September 18, 2015) https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/09/18/dispatches-russia-crimea-and-shrinking-space-free-speech.
- 74 Russia censors media by blocking websites and popular blog, The Guardian (Agence France Presse) (March 14, 2014) http://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/mar/14/russia-bans-alexei-navalny-blog-opposition-news-websites.
- 75 Roskomnadzor edited its press release that included instructions on writing about Ukrainian nationalist organizations and subsequently removed the instructions that the media should use qualifiers. Разъяснения по поводу упоминания в СМИ организаций, включенных в "экстремистский" список Минюста РФ [Explanations about media organizations' references to the "extremist" list by the Ministry of Justice], Federal Service for Supervision of Communications, Information Technology and Mass Media, (February 13, 2015) http://rkn. gov.ru/news/rsoc/news30405.htm; Роскомнадзор запретил СМИ писать нейтрально об украинских националистах. [Roskomnadzor prohibits writing neutrally about Ukrainian nationalists], available at: http://www.novayagazeta.ru/ news/1691640.html. To view the archived original press release in Russian, see https://archive.is/lmpFB. See also Igor Gerasimov, Роскомнадзор смягчил правила упоминания в СМИ запрещенных организаций Подробнее на РБК [Roskomnadzor softens the rules for media to refer to banned organizations], RBK (February 14, 2015) http:// www.rbc.ru/politics/14/02/2015/54df46389a7947606 6dfae68; Daniil Turovsky, This is how Russian Internet censorship works, Meduza (August 13, 2015) available at: https://meduza.io/en/feature/2015/08/13/thisis-how-russian-internet-censorship-works.
- 76 Roskomnadzor blocks information, interviews, and articles about Ukrainian activists; for example, Dmitro Yarosh and Andrei Tarasenko, who are members of the group Right Sector. Роскомнадзор предупредил Ленту.ру о возможном закрытии за экстремизм [Roskomnadzor warned Lenta.ru of possible closure for extremism], RIA Novosti (March 3, 2014), http://ria.ru/society/20140312/999131040.html.
- 77 Russia censors media by blocking websites and popular blog, The Guardian/Agence France-Press, March 14, 2014, available at: http://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/mar/14/russia-bans-alexei-naval-ny-blog-opposition-news-websites.

- 78 Reporters without Borders described Lenta. ru as one of the country's most widely read news websites, and 16th most visited online resource behind search engines and social media. Lenta.ru website is latest independent news outlet to be reined in, Reporters without Borders (March 12, 2014), http://en.rsf.org/ russia-lenta-ru-website-is-latest-13-03-2014,45996. html. See also Mariya Petkova, Russia's Independent Media Face Crackdown, Al Jazeera, (March 26, 2014), http://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2014/03/ russia-independent-media-face-crackdown-ukra ine-2014320133346526434.html; Courtney Weaver, Internet editor fired as Kremlin media crackdown intensifies, Financial Times, (March 12, 2014), http://www.ft.com/ intl/cms/s/0/c87047d0-aa06-11e3-8497-00144feab7de. html#axzz3xoYQ2wpn.
- 79 Russia Lenta.ru editor Timchenko fired in Ukraine row, BBC, March 12, 2014, http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-26543464.
- 80 Courtney Weaver, Internet editor fired as Kremlin media crackdown intensifies, Financial Times, (March 12, 2014) http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/c87047d0-aa06-11e3-8497-00144feab7de.html#axzz3r2448TtU; Russia Lenta.ru editor Timchenko fired in Ukraine row, BBC, (March 12, 2014) http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-26543464.
- 81 Telephone interview with Masha Gessen, September 22, 2015.
- 82 Agence France-Presse, Russia censors media by blocking websites and popular blog, The Guardian (March14, 2014), http://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/mar/14/russia-bans-alexei-navalny-blog-opposition-news-websites; Access to blocked sites restored by Reporters Without Borders, BBC (March 12, 2015), http://www.bbc.com/news/technology-31836330. Electronic Frontier Foundation included instructions on how to circumvent the ban on their website. Eva Galperin and Danny O'Brien, Russia Blocks Access to Major Independent News Sites, Electronic Frontier Foundation, (March 13, 2014), https://www.eff.org/deeplinks/2014/03/russia-blocks-access-major-independent-news-sites.
- 83 Fatima Tlis, Former Editor-in-Chief of Lenta.ru Launches New Media Project From Latvia,, Eurasia Daily Monitor Volume: 11 Issue: 189 (October 24, 2014) available at: http://www.jamestown.org/programs/edm/single/?tx\_ttnews%5Btt\_news%5D=43002&cHash=fb-76c7ed20edd7d44aab84e6d0a16137#.VIPm7YSoD5w.
  - 84 October 2015 Web Index Report, TNS-Global

Website, http://tns-global.ru/services/media/media-audience/internet/information/?arrFilter\_pf%5B-YEAR%5D=2015&set\_filter=%D0%9F%D0%BE%D0%BA%D0%B0%D0%B7%D0%B0%D1%82%D1%8C&set\_filter=Y.

- 85 E-mail from Nabi Abdullaev, dated November 15, 2015 [On file with the author].
- 86 "Генпрокуратура и Роскомнадзор заблокировали 13 сообществ украинских националистов "Вконтакте" [The Prosecutor General and Roskomnadzor blocked 13 Ukrainian nationalist communities in Vkontakte], C News (March 3, 2013) http://www.cnews.ru/news/top/genprokuratura\_i\_roskomnadzor\_zablokirovali.

87 Id.

- 88 Рафиса Кашапова признали виновным в призывах к сепаратизму и возбуждении ненависти [Rafis Kashapova convicted of inciting separatism and hatred], SOVA-Center (September 15, 2015) http://www.sova-center.ru/misuse/news/persecution/2015/09/d32800/%29.
- 89 Ідог Lesovskikh, В России впервые назначено реальное лишение свободы за пропаганду экстремизма в соцсетях [In Russia, first real inprisonment for propaganda of extremism on social networks], Kommersant.ru, (December 1, 2015) http://www.kommersant.ru/doc/2866608. See also Tetyana Lokot, Russia Sees Its First Real Prison Sentence for 'Promoting Extremism' on Social Media, Global Voices (December 1, 2015) https://globalvoices.org/2015/12/01/runet-user-gets-first-real-prison-term-for-promoting-extremism-on-social-media/.
- This has been reflected in promoting a "traditional" family structure, patriotism, and Russian Orthodoxy, among other things. Anna Shadrina, What is threatening 'traditional family values' in Russia today?, Open Democracy (May 5, 2015), https://www.opendemocracy.net/anna-shadrina/what-is-threatening-% E 2 % 80 % 98 traditional-family-values% E2 % 80% 99-in-russia-today; Nicolai N. Petro, Russia's Orthodox Soft Power, Carnegie Council (March 23, 2015), http://www.carnegiecouncil.org/publications/articles\_papers\_reports/727; Rikard Jozwiak, EU to counter Russian propaganda by promoting 'European values,' The Guardian (June 25, 2015), http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jun/25/eu-russia-propaganda-ukraine.
- 91 E-mail from Ilya Danishevsky, dated December 21, 2015.

92 Vycheslav Varvanin, Spektor, Между истерикой и маркетингом [Between Hysteria and Marketing] (July 25, 2015) http://spektr.press/mezhdu-isterikoj-i-marketingom/.

93 Id.

- 94 Gabrielle Tétrault-Farber, Russia's Vaguest Laws and Their Unexpected Consequences, The Moscow Times (March 3, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/russias-vaguest-laws-and-their-unexpected-consequences/516944.html.
- 95 E-mail from Ilya Danishevsky, dated December 21, 2015.
- 96 Vycheslav Varvanin, Между истерикой и маркетингом [Between Hysteria and Marketing], Spektor, (July 25, 2015) http://spektr.press/mezhduisterikoj-i-marketingom/.
- 97 Anti-Piracy Law or Federal Law No 187-FZ "On Amendments to Legislative Acts of the Russian Federation on the protection of intellectual property rights in the information and telecommunications networks" *available at*: http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=160239;fld=134;dst=1000000001,0;rnd=0.24287179858815888.
- 98 E-mail from Ilya Danishevsky, dated December 21, 2015.
- 99 Книга Елены Костюченко "Нам здесь жить" поступила в розничную продажу [Elena Kostyuchnko's book *We Have to Live Here* is available for retail], *Novaya Gazeta*, (March 5, 2015) http://www.novayagazeta.ru/news/1692164.html.
- 100 Vladimir Isachenkov, *Pussy Riot Trial: Feminist Punk Band Guilty Of Hooliganism*, *Motivated By Religious Hatred*, Huffington Post, (August 17, 2012) http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2012/08/17/pussy-riot-trialguilty\_n\_1795570.html.

101 Id.

102 Daniil Turovsky, *This is how Russian Internet censorship works*, Meduza (August 13, 2015) https://meduza.io/en/feature/2015/08/13/this-is-how-russian-internet-censorship-works; Ivan Nechepurenko, *By Blocking Wikipedia, Russian Government Shows its Power Over Web*, The Moscow Times (Aug. 25, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/by-blocking-wikipedia-russian-government-shows-its-power-over-web/528618.html.

- 103 E-mail from Ilya Danishevsky, dated December 21, 2015.
- 104 Alisa Ivanitskaya, За что досталось книжке "Флаги мира"? [What did in the book *Flags of the World*?] Bol'shoi Gorod, (July 22, 2013) http://bg.ru/kids/kompas\_gid\_ryba-18836/?chapter=2#menu.
- 105 Пятно на флагах мира [A spot on the flags of the world], Lenta.ru, (July 22, 2013) http://Lenta.ru/articles/2013/07/19/flag/.

106 Id.

107 Alisa Ivanitskaya, За что досталось книжке "Флаги мира"? [What did in the book *Flags of the World?*], Bol'shoi Gorod, (July 22, 2013) http://bg.ru/kids/kompas\_gid\_ryba-18836/?chapter=2#menu.

108 Id.

109 Id.

110 Id.

- 111 Displaying Nazi symbols is an administrative offense under Article 20.3 of the Administrative Code. *Freedom on the Net: Russia* 2015, Freedom House, https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2015/russia.
- 112 Vera Yurchenko, Экстремизм игрушечный и настоящий [Extremism is real], Novaya Gazeta, (April 13, 2015) http://www.novayagazeta.ru/politics/68049.html.
- 113 Russian stores pull Holocaust graphic novel Maus over swastika on cover; The Guardian (April 27, 2015) http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/apr/27/russian-stores-pull-holocaust-graphic-novel-maus-over-swastika-on-cover.

114 Id.

115 Id.

- 116 Art Spiegelman warns of 'dangerous' outcome as Russian shops ban Maus, The Guardian (April 28, 2015) http://www.theguardian.com/books/2015/apr/28/art-spiegelman-russia-maus-bookstores-holocaust.
- 117 Telephone interview with Masha Gessen, September 22, 2015.

- 118 Editors' Note to Non-Children's Book series, Samokat Books, *available at:* http://www.samokatbook.ru/nedetskie/.
- 119 Samokat's Non-Children's Books website features photos of the books with their protective wrapping. Недетские книжки, *available at*: http://www.samokatbook.ru/nedetskie/.

120 Id.

- 121 Yulia Yakovleva, Новые русские детские книги о "трудном" [New Russian children's books about difficult issues], Colta.ru, (March 19, 2015) http://www.Colta.ru/articles/literature/6683.
- 122 Joshua Keating, *The Chilling Effects of Russia's Anti-Gay Law*, *One Year Later*, Slate (Oct 9, 2014), http://www.slate.com/blogs/outward/2014/10/09/russian\_lgbt\_activists\_on\_the\_effects\_of\_gay\_propaganda\_law.html; *Russia: Anti-LGBT Law a Tool for Discrimination*, Human Rights Watch (June 29, 2014), https://www.hrw.org/news/2014/06/29/russia-anti-lgbt-law-tool-discrimination; *Russia's Anti-Gay 'Propaganda Law' Assault on Freedom of Expression*, Amnesty International (Jan. 25, 2013), https://www.amnesty.org/en/press-releases/2013/01/russia-s-anti-gay-propaganda-law-assault-freedom-expression/.
- 123 Детский проект Людмилы Улицкой "ДРУГОЙ, ДРУГИЕ, О ДРУГИХ" [Lyudmilia Ulitskaya's children's project: Different, Differences, and about Difference], All-Russia State Library of Foreign Literature R.I. Rudomino, http://www.tolerinst.ru/childproj.php.
- 124 Прокуратура проверяет проект Улицкой на гей-пропаганду [The prosecutor is investigating Ulitskaya for gay propaganda], Izvestiya (May 23, 2014) http://izvestia.ru/news/571290.

- 126 Ksenia Larina, Родительское собрание: Полезные и вредные книжки для детей [Parent Meeting: Good and Bad Books for Children], *Ekho Mosky* (March 9, 2014) transcript available at: http://echo.msk.ru/programs/assembly/1274978-echo/.
- 127 Skype interview with Tanya Cooper, October 14, 2015.
- 128 Tom Balmforth, *Children-404: LGBT Support Group In Kremlin's Crosshairs*, Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty (November 21, 2014) http://www.

rferl.org/content/russia-lgbt-children-404-propaganda/26703500.html.

129 Klimova conducted a poll of 300 young people; and one-third said they had contemplated suicide, 50 attempted it, and 16 attempted it multiple times. Anastasia Belkova, *Volunteer initiative helps Russia's LGBT youth in fight for understanding*, Russia Beyond The Headlines (Sept. 29, 2014), http://rbth.com/society/2014/09/29/volunteer\_initiative\_helps\_russias\_lgbt\_youth\_in\_fight\_for\_understand\_40205.html.

- 131 Svera Kichanova, В сообществе ЛГБТ-подростков отвергли претензии Роскомнадзора по поводу непрофессионализма" [LGBT-community for teens accused by Roskomnadzor for lack of professionalism] slon.ru, (November 17, 2014) http://slon.ru/fast/russia/roskomnadzor-obyasnil-sut-pretenziy-k-soobshchestvu-deti-404-1185214.xhtml.
- 132 Darina Gribova, It Gets Worse for Russia's Most-Prominent LGBT Youth Support Group, Global Voices Advocacy (September 22, 2015): https://advox.globalvoices.org/2015/09/22/it-gets-worse-for-russias-most-prominent-lgbt-youth-support-group/.
- 133 Соцсеть 'ВКонтакте' заблокировала группу 'Дети-404', [The social network Vkontakte blocked the Children-404 group], BBC Russian Service (September 25, 2015) http://www.bbc.com/russian/rolling\_news/2015/09/150925\_rn\_children\_404.
- 134 Glenn Kates, A spate of teenage suicides alarms Russians, *The New York Times*, (April 19, 2012) http://www.nytimes.com/2012/04/20/world/europe/in-russia-spate-of-teenage-suicides-causes-alarm.html?\_r=0.
- 135 See License to Harm: Violence and Harassment against LGBT People and Activists in Russia, Human Rights Watch (December 15, 2014) p. 15 https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/russia1214\_ForUpload.pdf.
- 136 Daniil Turovsky, Про уродов и людей: против кого используют закон о гей-пропаганде среди несовершеннолетних? [Of freaks and people: who is the law on gay propaganda among children being used against?], Lenta.ru, (February 5, 2014) http:// Lenta.ru/articles/2014/02/05/bigotry/.
- 137 Herbivores, a play by Maxim Kurochkin, was banned for containing expletives. Both plays were part of the program organized by Colta.ru. Nadia

- Beard, *Boycott hits Moscow book fair following censor-ship concerns*, Calvert Journal, (June 13, 2014) http://calvertjournal.com/news/show/2683/boycott-hits-moscow-book-fair-following-censorship-concerns.
- 138 Программа COLTA.RU на ММОКФ отменена по требованию Минкульта [Colta.ru's program at the Moscow International Book Fair is cancelled at request of the Ministry of Culture], Colta. ru (June 9, 2014) http://www.Colta.ru/news/3501.
- 139 Tanya Cooper, *Dispatches: Russian Police Crash LGBT Film Viewing*, Human Rights Watch, (April 24, 2014) https://www.hrw.org/news/2014/04/24/dispatches-russian-police-crash-lgbt-film-viewing; Skype interview with Tanya Cooper, October 14, 2015.
- 140 Skype interview with Tanya Cooper, October 14, 2015.
- 141 For example, Medinsky has said that the USSR did not occupy the Baltic states, only "incorporated," and claimed that a 1939 picture of a Nazi-Soviet military parade in Poland was not accurate but "photo-shopped." Tom Balmforth, *Profile: Vladimir Medinsky, Russia's Controversial New Culture Minister*, Radio Free Liberty/Radio Europe (June 3, 2012) http://www.rferl.org/content/russia-profile-culture-minister-vladimir-medinsky/24602133.html.
- 142 Anna Dolgov, *Culture Minister Wants 'Patriotic Internet' to Protect Russians*, The Moscow Times (January 14, 2015) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/article.php?id=514340.
- 143 Vladimir Kozlov, Russia to Ban Films That 'Threaten National Unity' or 'Denigrate Its Culture', Hollywood Reporter (January 6, 2015) http://www.hollywoodreporter.com/news/russia-ban-films-threaten-unity-764333.
- 144 For example, the press is increasingly relying on government grants for funding. A recent advertising ban in Russian cable and satellite television stations also contributed to the tightening of independent institutions, with outlets going bankrupt. Karoun Demirjian, Russian advertising ban on paid cable and satellite channels threatens independence, The Washington Post (November 6, 2014) https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/europe/russian-advertising-ban-on-paid-cable-and-satellite-channels-threatens-independents/2014/11/05/ebbf933e-6370-11e4-ab86-46000e1d0035\_story.html; Delphine d'Amora, Duma approves abrupt advertising ban for paid television, The Moscow Times (July 6, 2014) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/business/article/

duma-approves-abrupt-advertising-ban-for-paid-television/503043.html. Additionally, the Minister of Culture Vladimir Medinskiy stated that he did not see the sense in funding films which discredit the image of Russia. Ksenia Kluchova, Министр культуры Мединский: Денег на фильмы о «Рашке-говняшке" больше не дам, Fontaka.ru (December 10, 2014) http://www.fontanka.ru/2014/12/09/202/.

145 Lena Jonson, *Russia: Cultural Freedom under Threat*, Freemuse Insight Series for Artsfreedom.org (May 11, 2015) http://artsfreedom.org/?p=9026.

146 Mansur Mirovalev, Russia's Rising Anti-Gay Hysteria, Al Jazeera (Jan. 21, 2015), http://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2015/01/russia-rising-anti-gay-hysteria-201511992033980189.html; Olga Khazan, Why is Russia So Homophobic?, The Atlantic (June 21, 2013), http://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2013/06/why-is-russia-so-homophobic/276817/.

147 Telephone interview with Mikhail Kaluzhsky, November 13, 2015.

148 Id.

149 Recent theater productions have edited out gay or flamboyant characters, such as Monsieur Triquet, a minor character in Pushkin's novel Eugene Onegin. Philip Kennicott, *Critic's Notebook: Homophobia's politicization reflects sad state of Russian cultural politics*, The Washington Post (Aug. 30, 2013), https://www.washingtonpost.com/entertainment/music/critics-notebook-homophobias-politicization-reflects-sad-state-of-russian-cultural-politics/2013/08/29/f36b553e-0ffa-11e3-85b6-d27422650fd5\_story.html. Other reports detail that theaters such as the Bolshoi Theater in Moscow receive 60% of their funding from the state. *A Tale of Two Operas*, Petersburg City (Nov. 18, 2005), http://petersburgcity.com/news/culture/2005/11/18/theatre/.

150 Журнал "Театр" и "Петербургский театральный журнал" могут лишиться финансирования [The journal *Theater* and the *Petersburg Theatrical Journal* may have their funding cut], PaperNews (April 21, 2015) http://paperpaper.ru/papernews/2015/04/21/money-for-media-about-theatre/.

151 Golden Mask: Russian Performing Arts Festival and National Theater Award, http://eng.goldenmask.ru/stat.php?id=1; Lilya Palveleva and Robert Coalson, Russian Theater Critics Wonder if Culture Minister Is Behind the Golden Mask, Radio Free Europe/ Radio Liberty (Oct.

24, 2015), http://www.rferl.org/content/russia-theater-critics-golden-mask-medinsky/27324377.html.

152 Eva Hartog, State vs Art: Russia's 2015 Crackdown on Contemporary Culture, The Moscow Times (Dec. 31, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/article/553693.html. See also Nadia Beard, Golden Mask organisers hit back against culture ministry following allegations of Russophobia, The Calvert Journal (May 27, 2015), http://calvertjournal.com/news/show/4167/golden-mask-organisers-hit-back-against-culture-ministry-following-allegati.

153 Telephone interview with Mikhail Kaluzhsky, November 13, 2015.

154 Lilya Palveleva and Robert Coalson, *Russian Theater Critics Wonder If Culture Minister Is Behind The Golden Mask*, Radio Free Liberty/Radio Europe (October 24, 2015) http://www.rferl.org/content/russia-theater-critics-golden-mask-medinsky/27324377.html.

155 Id.

156 Золотая маска"—не премия Министерства культуры: Открытое письмо председателю СТД РФ Калягину А.А. [The Golden Mask is not a Ministry of Culture Award: Open Letter to the Chairman of the Union of Independent Theater Professionals A.A. Kalyagin], Teatral (October 2015) http://www.teatral-online.ru/news/14498/; Lilya Palveleva and Robert Coalson, Russian Theater Critics Wonder If Culture Minister Is Behind The Golden Mask, Radio Free Liberty/Radio Europe (October 24, 2015) http://www.rferl.org/content/russia-theater-critics-golden-mask-medinsky/27324377.html; Eva Hartog, State vs Art: Russia's 2015 Crackdown on Contemporary Culture, The Moscow Times (Dec 31, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/article/553693.html.

157 See Teatr.doc, http://www.teatrdoc.ru/stat.php?page=about.

158 Lucy Ash, *Russia's Most Daring Theater Company*, BBC News Magazine (April 16, 2015) http://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-32320896.

159 Molly Flynn, Lights up: for Teatr.doc, Russia's most controversial theatre company, the show must go on, Calvert Journal (March 12, 2015) http://calvertjournal.com/articles/show/3739/Teatr-doc-reopening-documentary-theatre-moscow-Mikhail-Ugarov.

161 Lucy Ash, *Russia's Most Daring Theater Company*, BBC News Magazine (April 16, 2015) http://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-32320896.

- 163 John Freedman, *Teatr:doc booted from its home after Bolotnaya play*, The Moscow Times (May 31, 2015) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/arts\_n\_ideas/article/teatr-doc-booted-from-home-after-bolotnaya-play/522762.html.
- 164 Russia: Pussy Riot inspired blasphemy law threat to free expression, Article 19 (July 1, 2013), https://www.article19.org/resources.php/resource/37143/en/russia:-pussy-riot-inspired-blasphemy-law-threat-to-free-expression, Как определить, являются ли конкретные высказывания оскорблением? Sovietnik.Consultant, [How to determine if specific statements are an insult?] available at: http://sovetnik.consultant.ru/pravila\_povedeniya/chto\_po\_zakonu\_yavlyaetsya\_oskorbleniem\_chuvstv\_veruyuwih/#4.
- 165 E-mail from Ilya Danishevsky, December 21, 2015.
- 166 "Уголовный кодекс Российской Федерации" от 13.06.1996 N 63-ФЗ (ред. от 13.07.2015, с изм. от 16.07.2015) (с изм. и доп., вступ. в силу с 25.07.2015). Criminal Code of Russian Federation available at: http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc;base=LAW;n=174173;fld=134;dst=1345,0;rnd=0.23494985606521368; Russia: Pussy Riot inspired blasphemy law threat to free expression, Article 19 (July 1, 2013), https://www.article19.org/resources.php/resource/37143/en/russia:-pussy-riot-inspired-blasphemy-law-threat-to-free-expression.
- 167 Telephone interview with Mikhail Kaluzhsky, November 13, 2015.
- 168 Ivan Nechepurenko and Michele A. Berdy, Attack on Exhibit Sparks Fears New Law Has Empowered Russian Marginals, The Moscow Times (August 16, 2015) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/attack-on-exhibit-sparks-fears-new-law-has-empowered-russian-marginals/528028.html.
- 169 Investigative Committee requested to investigate production of An Ideal Husband, Human Rights in Russia, (Dec. 30, 2013), http://hro.rightsinrussia.info/hro-org/expression-5; See also Orthodox activists' hijack controversial theater play for 'blasphemy', RT (November 29, 2013) https://www.rt.com/news/orhodox-attack-theater-play-493//, Delphine D'Amora, Religious

- Activists Gatecrash 'Blasphemous' Theater Performance, The Moscow Times (Nov. 29, 2013), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/religious-activists-gatecrash-blasphemous-theater-performance/490563.html.
- 170 YouTube video of Enteo at the Darwin Museum, available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9x-96Jl7QwH8&feature=youtu.be [accessed January 21, 2016]; The Anti-Pussy Riot: Russian 'Orthodox Inquisition' takes over Darwin museum in creationist stunt, RT (March 18, 2013) https://www.rt.com/news/creationists-darwin-museum-moscow-446/.
- 171 Yabloko press release, 'Inquisition' by the Orthodox fascists against the YABLOKO party, Yabloko (March 17, 2013) available at: http://eng.yabloko.ru/Press/2012/03172013-attack-yabloko.html.
- 172 Radical Russian Orthodox Activist to Lecture on Whether Putin Will Become God, The Moscow Times (September 2, 2014), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/radical-russian-orthodox-activist-to-lecture-on-whether-putin-will-become-god/506325.html.
- 173 Michael Khodarkovsky, Russian Thugs vs. the Avant-Garde, The New York Times (September 7, 2015), http://www.nytimes.com/2015/09/08/opinion/russian-thugs-vs-the-avant-garde.html; Ivan Nechepurenko, Attack on Exhibit Sparks Fears New Law Has Empowered Russian Marginals, The Moscow Times (August 16, 2015), http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/attack-on-exhibit-sparks-fears-new-law-has-empowered-russian-marginals/528028.html.
- 174 Radical Russian Orthodox Leader Imprisoned for Art Vandalism, The Moscow Times (September 23, 2015) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/radical-russian-orthodox-leader-imprisoned-for-art-vandalism/534982.html.
- 175 One of Enteo's followers had previously received a one-year suspended sentence for firing an irritant into the eyes of an LGBT-rights activist. *Orthodox activists' hijack controversial theater play for 'blasphemy'*, RT (November 29, 2013) https://www.rt.com/news/orhodox-attack-theater-play-493//.
- 176 Russian artist arrested for setting fire to security service HQ, The Guardian (November 9, 2015) http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/nov/09/russian-artist-pyotr-pavlensky-sets-fire-to-fsb-hq/; Russian Performance Artist Pavlensky's Detention Prolonged, Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty (December 4, 2015) http://www.rferl.org/content/russia-artist-pavlensky-detention-prolonged/27407143.html.

- 177 Radical Russian Orthodox Activist to Lecture on Whether Putin Will Become God, The Moscow Times (September 2, 2014) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/radical-russian-orthodox-activist-to-lecture-on-whether-putin-will-become-god/506325.html.
- 178 Lena Jonson, *Russia: Cultural Freedom under Threat*, Freemuse Insight Series for Artsfreedom.org (May 11, 2015) http://artsfreedom.org/?p=9026.
- 179 Russia: Theatre director fired for staging opera that offended church, Artsfreedom.org (April 2, 2015) http://artsfreedom.org/?p=8757; Neil MacFarquhar and Sophia Kishkovsky, Russian Theater Director Fired for Offending Christians, The New York Times (March 29, 2015), http://www.nytimes.com/2015/03/30/world/europe/russian-theater-director-fired-for-offending-christians.html, Документ дня: Церковы против искусства [Document of the Day: Church against Art], Lenta.ru (February 26, 2015) http://Lenta.ru/articles/2015/02/26/tangezerdoc/.
- 180 Kashmira Gandir, Russia fires director of Wagner's Tannhauser opera after modern interpretation offends nation's Orthodox Christians, The Independent (March 30, 2015) http://www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/theatre-dance/news/russia-fires-director-of-wagners-tannhauser-opera-after-modern-interpretation-offends-nations-10145035.html.
- 181 Russia: Theatre director fired for staging opera that offended church, Artsfreedom.org (April 2, 2015) http://artsfreedom.org/?p=8757.
- 182 Leonid Bershidsky, *Russia Tries Cracking Down on Opera*, Bloomberg View, (March 10, 2015) http://www.bloombergview.com/articles/2015-03-10/russia-tries-cracking-down-on-opera.
- 183 Fact Sheet: Russia's NGO Laws Freedom House, *available at:* https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/Fact%20Sheet\_0.pdf.
- 184 Russia: Government against Rights Groups, Human Rights Watch (October 29, 2015) https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/10/29/russia-government-against-rightsgroups.
- 185 Heather McGill, Russian NGOs cynically treated like enemies of the state, Amnesty International (November 13, 2015) https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2015/11/russian-ngos-cynically-treated-like-enemies-of-the-state/.

- 186 Id. Although there was a distinct wave of inspections in 2013, and again in 2014, inspections of NGOs still occur, and NGOs operate under the risk that they could be inspected. Gabrielle Tétrault-Farber, *Hundreds of Russian NGOs Penalized Last Year Amid Government Crackdown*, The Moscow Times, (March 24, 2015) http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/hundreds-of-russian-ngos-penalized-last-year-amidgovernment-crackdown/517935.html.
- 187 Russia: Government against Rights Groups, Human Rights Watch (October 29, 2015) https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/10/29/russia-government-against-rightsgroups.
- 188 Id. Human Rights Watch maintains a list of actions against NGOs under the foreign agents law, including registrations and court cases, *available at*: https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/10/29/russia-government-against-rights-groups. *See also* a list of cases, including articles, related documents, and map, maintained by Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, *available at*: http://www.rferl.org/section/crackdown-on-ngosin-russia/3272.html.
- 189 Claire Bigg, *Under Fire: Russian Book-Burning Prompts Dismay*, Radio Free Europe/ Radio Liberty (January 14, 2016) http://www.rferl.org/content/russia-books-burned-soros/27488173.html; Press Release, *Russia Cracks Down on Open Society*, Open Society Foundations (November 30, 2015), https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/press-releases/russia-cracks-down-open-society.
- 190 Katherine Jacobsen, Russian Authorities Burn Books Published with Soros Funds, ABC News (January 14, 2016), http://abcnews.go.com/International/wireStory/russian-authorities-burn-books-published-soros-funds-36281654; Kalyeena Makortoff, Soros charity targeted in Russia book-burning, CNBC, (January 14, 2016), http://www.cnbc.com/2016/01/14/soros-charity-targeted-in-russia-book-burning.html.
- 191 United Nations Human Rights Committee, Concluding Observations on the Seventh Periodic Report of the Russian Federation, adopted on March 31, 2015, ¶ 22 available at: https://www.fidh.org/IMG/pdf/ccpr\_c\_rus\_co\_7\_19979\_e-1.pdf.
- 192 Russia's Putin Signs Law Against 'Undesirable' NGOs, BBC Europe (May 24, 2015) http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-32860526; NGO Law Monitor: Russia, International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (October 2, 2015), http://www.icnl.org/research/monitor/russia.html.

- 193 Russia: Stop Draft Law on Undesirable Groups, Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch (May 15, 2015) https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/05/15/russia-stop-draft-law-undesirable-groups.
- 194 Russia begins blacklisting 'undesirable' organizations, Amnesty International (July 28, 2015) https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2015/07/russia-begins-blacklisting-undesirable-organizations/.
- 195 National Endowment for Democracy Statement on Russian Undesirable Organizations, NED (July 28, 2015) http://www.ned.org/national-endowment-for-democracy-statement-on-russian-undesirable-organizations/.
- 196 Press Release, Russia Cracks Down on Open Society, Open Society Foundations (November 30, 2015) https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/press-releases/russia-cracks-down-open-society; US Regrets Latest Russian Ban on Western NGO, Voice of America (December 5, 2015) http://www.voanews.com/content/united-states-regrets-russian-ban-nongovernmental-organization/3090456.html.
- 197 Maria Tsvetkova and Eric Auchard, *Russia Warns Google, Twitter, Facebook Of Possible Block*, The Huffington Post (May 21, 2015) http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2015/05/21/russia-google-twitter-facebook\_n\_7403624.html.
- 198 В Саратове после ссоры с родителями школьница кое-что сделала по некоторым причинам [In Saratov, after a fight with her parents a schoolgirl did something for some certain reason], Rodnoi Gorod, (September 14, 2015) http://sar-rodgor.ru/news/tkrim/29371/.
- 199 Moscow Times chief editor says he's signing because new Russian owner wants too much control, Meduza (October 28, 2015), https://meduza.io/en/news/2015/10/28/moscow-times-chief-editor-says-he-s-resigning-because-new-russian-owner-wants-too-much-control.

- 200 E-mail from Nabi Abdullaev, dated November 15, 2015.
  - 201 Id.
  - 202 Id.
- 203 Skype interview with Maria Stepanova, October 9, 2015.
- 204 Id.; Paul Goble, Censorship and Self-Censorship Restricting Russian Media Coverage of Religious Issues The Interpreter (October 22, 2015) http://www.interpretermag.com/censorship-and-self-censorship-restricting-russian-media-coverage-of-religious-issues/. A survey of 128 Russian journalists reporting on religious issues found that the majority of them were afraid to report on religious conflicts and actively avoided certain religious issues. Id.
- 205 Skype interview with Maria Stepanova, October 9, 2015.
- 206 For an extended discussion of the definition of a hybrid war, and its context in terms of Russia and Ukraine, *see* Michael Koffman and Matthew Rojansky, A Closer Look at Russia's Hybrid War, Kennan Cable, (April 2015) https://www.wilsoncenter.org/sites/default/files/7-KENNAN%20CABLE-ROJANSKY%20 KOFMAN.pdf.
- 207 Skype interview with Maria Stepanova, October 9, 2015.